PENSION BOARD
10.00 am
TUESDAY
19 OCTOBER 2021
Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

MEETING PAPERS

PENSION BOARD
TIME:

10.00 am

DATE:

Tuesday 19 October 2021

VENUE:

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting
AGENDA

ITEM

TOPIC

CONTACT

1.

Apologies

Andrea Griffiths

2.

Pension Board Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
The Board is asked to approve the minutes of the previous
meeting held on the 28th July 2021.

Andrea Griffiths

3.

Pension Committee Draft Minutes (Pages 7 - 14)
The Board is asked to note the draft Pension Committee minutes.

Andrea Griffiths

4.

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 (Pages 15 - 54)
The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew Trebilcock

5.

Risk Register (Pages 55 - 70)
The Board is asked to note the register and the changes agreed
by the Committee.

Matthew Trebilcock

6.

Draft Annual Report (Pages 71 - 100)
The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew Trebilcock

7.

Governance Review (Pages 101 - 128)
The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew Trebilcock

8.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for
the following agenda items, because it is likely that if members of
the public were present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information to the public.

Sean Collins

9.

Pension Board Exempt Minutes (Pages 129 - 134)

Andrea Griffiths

The Board is asked to approve the exempt minutes of the previous
meeting held on the 28th July 2021.
10.

Pension Committee Draft Exempt Minutes (Pages 135 - 142)
The Board is asked to note the Pension Committee draft exempt
minutes.

Andrea Griffiths

NOTES
(a)

MEMBERSHIP – Sean Collins (Chair), Annette Benson, Jon Topping, Michael
Hunt, John Abbott and Cllr Stephen Hirst.

(b)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the
Monitoring
Officer:
Rob
Ayliffe
01452
328506
e-mail:
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Wednesday 28 July 2021
commencing at 10.00 am at the .
PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Apologies:
12.

John Abbott
Michael Hunt
Sean Collins
Jon Topping
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Annette Benson and Paul Jones

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS PENSION BOARD
It was noted that some members forenames had been omitted, subject to this being
amended, the minutes were agreed as a correct record.
Resolved
That the minutes of the Pension Board held on the 9th March 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

13.

PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES
Resolved
That the Pension Committee draft minutes held on the 18th June 2021 be duly
noted.

14.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 1
The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update
on the performance of the Fund, as at 31 March 2021.
Board Members were advised that the past service position of the Fund had
improved since 31 March 2019 and based on a level of investment return of 4.1%,
the fund currently had sufficient assets to pay all accrued benefits. In addition, the
amount of additional assets had increased from £41m to £409m since the valuation
in 2019.
Prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen from 4.2% to 4.1%
based on the Fund’s current investment strategy.
Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by
£55.378m, to £2.898bn. It was reported that performance for the fund over three
years to March 2021 was 7.6%, and was slightly behind the benchmark by 0.2%.

-1-

Page 1

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Members were informed that during the Quarter the rebalancing of the Strategic
Asset Allocation had been undertaken to the Brunel Global High Alpha portfolio. In
addition a top up allocation to Brunel Private Markets portfolios had also occurred
and this was currently waiting to be called down.
In response to a question, it was explained that Committee had asked for a piece of
work to be undertaken to look at the associated risks to the Fund in relation to
inflation and also benchmarking overall performance against comparative funds.
The Head of Pensions advised the Board that the valuation would take place in
March 2022 and a strategic review would also be undertaken then.
The Head of Pensions told the Board there were a number of issues staff had faced
during the pandemic but overall the administration team were doing a sterling job in
challenging times. It was recognised that the payment of member’s benefits, such
as retirements and death grants had been given priority and there were currently
remain challenges to recruiting and the training of staff. Members were advised
that the team were still operating an office rota system.
The Board were advised that the Fund was in a positive funded position at the
quarter end.
Resolved
That the Board noted the report.
15.

RISK REGISTER
The Head of Pensions explained that the risk register was a live document and
therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the
Committee and Board.
Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the
Pension Board in March 2021, there had been no substantial movement in the
overall risk levels faced by the fund.
The Board noted that in relation to F1, F2 & F4, these risks had previously been
increased due to the potential impact of the Covid pandemic and the Equity review.
They were reduced back to original levels last quarter and would continue to be
monitored by Pension Committee through ongoing reporting.
It was reported that F6 risk remained at an elevated level at this time. This risk
would be reviewed once the inflation and interest rate risk exposure of the Fund
had been reviewed, as part of the ongoing work plan.
In terms of A/R 1.1, A/R 1.2 & G5, these risks remained at a medium residual risk
as the recruitment plan for the agreed team resources was still ongoing. Risk G5
would be reviewed after the training needs analysis had been undertaken.

-2-

Page 2

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

All of the remaining risk ratings within the risk register had been reviewed. It was
anticipated that risk G8 and F9 would be removed from the risk register in the near
future once the transition to Brunel has been completed.
Resolved
That the Board noted the risk register.
16.

BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21
The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail.
It was noted that the Board’s Annual Report would be presented to the Pension
Committee and then onto County Council. The report included information on the
business conducted by the Pension Board with any risks or concerns identified. In
addition, the report would be published on the Pension Fund’s website.
The report provided details of the constitution of the Board, the respective Employer
and Member representatives and their attendance at the meetings held. It also
provided an indication of the future work programme for the Board for 2021/22,
which would focus on the triennial valuation, governance review and the McCloud
judgement.
In response to a question, it was noted that the training programme would be
incorporated at a later date, as training had been impacted by the Covid pandemic.
Resolved
That the Board approved the Annual Report.

17.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW
Scott Campbell (AON) presented the report in detail and advised the Board that it
was a question of how things got done, policies, practices, etc. AON had
undertaken the review and had made comparisons against National best practice,
AON governance framework and other LGPS in order to highlight areas that require
improvement.
It was noted that AON Officers had previously observed the Pension Committee,
Pension Board and had undertaken in-depth discussions with the Head of
Pensions.
During the discussion it was noted that AON had considered the mixed
representation of the different sectors on the Committee and the Board. It was
suggested that there should possibly be an increase in the employee and employer
representation on the Pension Committee. Board Members welcomed this
suggestion.

-3-

Page 3

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

In terms of the frequency of meeting, AON were please to note that the number of
Pension Board meetings had increased from 2 to 4 a year. In addition, it was also
noted that training had also been provided to all members since the review was
undertaken and this had been duly noted.
The Board noted that a related workplan was in the process of being devised by the
Head of Pensions and this would be presented to the September Committee
meeting for consideration and to the Board in October.
Members acknowledged the reports findings and recognised that it was necessary
for Board Members to challenge, question and voice their concerns. It was
anticipated by holding more regular meetings the Board would develop further and
interact with the Committee more due to the increased frequency.
During the discussion, it was noted that some items were regulatory for the
Committee to consider and the Board’s function was more of an oversight role. The
newer Board Member’s recognised that at times they felt out of the depth with some
of the content, and felt unable to challenge initially. It was noted that the report
content was well presented it was a question of experience at this stage. The Chair
added that if Board Members didn’t fully understand the report content, how could
they be sure that Committee members understood them.
Officers appreciated the points raised and acknowledged it was not for Members to
spot errors in the report but to be confident that the Committee was making the right
decisions. These skills sets would be improved over time with knowledge and
training.
The Head of Pensions referred to the knowledge assessment that was circulated by
the Actuary, Hymans Robertson. It was noted that a training plan would be
developed in accordance with the collated responses.
It was also recognised that there would be an impact from the McCloud ruling and
the triennial valuation going forward.
In response to a question, the Head of Pensions explained that the fund
performance update acted as a form of key performance indicators (KPI’s).
Members also recognised that the Fund needed to have its own view in terms of
cyber security and business continuity plans. The Head of Pensions advised the
Board that these areas were developed and a report would be presented to
Committee in September and the Board at its October meeting. Members were
interested in the cyber security elements given the issues faced by some other
authorities.
Resolved
That a report be noted.
18.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

-4-

Page 4

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Resolved
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the
public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, because it is
likely that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them
of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the
Act and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information to the public.
19.

EXEMPT MINUTES PENSION BOARD
It was noted that some members forenames had been omitted, subject to this being
amended, the minutes were agreed as a correct record.
Resolved
That the exempt minutes of the Pension Board held on the 9th March 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

20.

EXEMPT PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES
Resolved
That the exempt minutes of the Pension Committee held on the 18th June
2021 be duly noted.

21.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 2
The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent
Adviser and gave an overview of market valuations and an update on the
performance of the Fund, as at 31st March 2021.
Resolved
That the Board noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31st March 2021.

22.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
The Board discussed their role in relation to the Pension Committee in detail.
Members were reminded that they could attend the Pension Committee meeting if
they wished too. After some debate, it was agreed that Councillor Hirst would
represent the Board at the Pension Committee.

CHAIRPERSON

-5-

Page 5

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Meeting concluded at 11.32 am

-6-

Page 6

Agenda Item 3

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 24 September
2021 commencing at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Mark MackenzieCharrington
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark
Cllr David Gray
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Apologies:

Cllr Wendy Thomas

In Attendance:

Matthew Trebilcock, John Arthur (Independent Advisor), Douglas
Green (Hymans), Daniel Kanaris (AON) and Andrea Griffiths.

13.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Councillor Miller declared he was a trustee of Gloucester United Schools.

14.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS One public question had been received and the response had been published
online.

15.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS One member question had been received and the response had been published
online.
In addition, the Employee representative asked a question in relation to the Brunel
Climate Stocktake, the Chair explained that the Brunel Oversight Board (BOB) had
recently discussed the Paris-aligned benchmarking innovation. The Head of
Pensions advised the Committee that the Climate stocktake work was commencing
and the outcomes would be brought back to this Committee in 2022. It was noted
that the Gloucestershire Fund as a key stakeholder would be engaged with as part
of the process.

16.

MINUTES Resolved
-1-

Page 7

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 18th June 2021 be
approved as a correct record.
17.

PENSION BOARD DRAFT MINUTES
Resolved
That the draft Pension Board minutes of the 28th July 2021 be noted.

18.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE
The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update
on the performance of the Fund, as at 30 June 2021.
Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by
£159.5m, to £3.058bn. It was reported that performance for the fund over three
years to March 2021 was 8.4%, and was slightly ahead of the benchmark by 0.4%.
Members were advised that the last quarter provided a return of 5.4%,
outperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.8%.
The Committee were advised that the Fund was in a positive funded position at the
quarter end.
Members were advised that final transition of the Funds fixed interest allocations to
Sterling Corporate Bonds and Multi-Asset Credit had taken place to the respective
Brunel Portfolios during the quarter. It was noted that no rebalancing of the
portfolios had taken place during the quarter.
In response to a question relating to fossil fuels exposures on the sterling corporate
bond portfolio, Officers agreed to review the exposures and report back.
During the discussion, it was noted there was a marked increase in the number of
retirement estimates, which had now appeared returned to pre-Covid levels. It was
recognised that the Pensions Administration Team had produced the Annual
Benefit Statements within the statutory deadline of 31 August. The Head of
Pensions told the Committee there were a number of issues staff had faced during
the pandemic but overall the administration team were doing a sterling job in
challenging times
Members wished to know if the increase in retirement estimates was due to Covid.
The Head of Pensions explained there was an increased interaction with
employers, and it was employees only enquiring at this stage. The Employee
representative explained in his service area there had been an increase in staff
turnover, Officers explained they would continue to monitor required resourcing
levels closely.
Members were advised that in terms of administration performance indicators for
this quarter they were always challenging, however this was not a reflection of the
-2-

Page 8

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

performance that would be achieved as the year progressed. The Head of
Pensions explained that resources were redeployed during the first quarter to deal
with major projects, such as the year end process and the production of the Annual
Benefit Statements. In addition staff were still working in a Covid enforced
environment.
It was noted that as part of resourcing levels the ability to recruit and train staff in
the current situation was an ongoing issue and forms part of the business plan.
In response to a question regarding mortality rate assumptions and updates on life
expectancy, it was noted that Hymans would look at those factors as part of the
valuation once the data had been collated.
The Committee were advised that in terms of Brunel voting, parameters were set by
the Funds collectively. There was a responsible investment sub-group who met
with Brunel on a regular basis. In addition, Hermes set a template that applied the
voting principles of Brunel to operate within.
The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the knowledge and skills
assessment, a training plan was being developed for members. In addition Brunel
were offering investor seminars for members to attend virtually. If members were
unable to attend then the recordings would be made available after the events. It
was noted that Hymans will be providing the Fund with access to an online learning
academy and the details would be circulated in due course.
The Chair was pleased to note the positive position of the fund and recognised this
was the first time ever the fund had exceeded £3bn.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 30 June 2021.
19.

RISK REGISTER
The Head of Pensions explained that the risk register was a live document and
therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the
Committee.
Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the
Pension Committee in June 2021, there had been no substantial movement in the
overall risk levels faced by the fund.
During the discussion it was noted in relation to climate change and the IPCC
report, these elements would be captured within the investment strategy, which
would be evaluated and reviewed accordingly in early 2022.

-3-

Page 9

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Committee were advised that specialist advisors monitored the impact on
employment, mortality and life expectancy and those factors were embedded within
part of everyday life.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the risk register.
20.

PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKING REPORT
The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the fund participated
in LGPS Investment Performance benchmark as undertaken by PIRC. It was noted
that 5 out of 10 funds within the Brunel had taken part.
In response to a question, members were advised that the fund was cash flow
positive and therefore not a forced seller of its assets. If the need arose there were
other asset classes that be used to generate income available to the Fund. The
Committee welcome the report and found it to be useful comparative tool.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the report.

21.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020/21
The Head of Pension explained that the report provided the opportunity for the
Pensions Committee to consider the year-end financial statements of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, prior to them being presented to the Audit
Committee for approval as part of Gloucestershire County Council’s Accounts.
In response to question, members were advised that the Pension Fund accounts at
this stage were unaudited and the level of audit fees were set by Government and
they are due for renewal shortly. Members noted that external audit were also
experiencing recruiting difficulties in the market and this was impacting on the
audits being conducted.
Resolved
That the report be noted.

22.

DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT
The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the draft annual
report was circulated via email for information. Members were advised that the
Annual Report had to be published online before the 1st December 2021. It was
explained that when the Pension Fund Accounts had been formally approved, they
would be incorporated into the annual report and the Chair would be delegated to
sign the annual report on the Committee’s behalf.

-4-

Page 10

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Chair requested that page 13 of the annual report be amended in relation to
the reference date for the investment managers, Officers agreed to make the
necessary amendment.
It was suggested during the discussion, that the pictures contained within the
annual report were more reflective of a different age group and social life, some
members felt this should be more reflective of Gloucestershire. Officers agreed to
look at the imagery within the report. The Committee noted that the report would be
published online and the decision had been taken to no longer produce printed
copies.
The Committee felt the format was better, more accessible and the executive
summaries were now more informative. However members commented that the
bar chart shades were on occasion difficult to read and a bolder colour to
differentiate would be beneficial.
Members felt that climate change, responsible investment and Brunel’s
performance should be highlighted within the report. The Committee agreed these
factors should be publicised within the report. The Head of Pensions explained that
he was working with Brunel to produce communications ahead of the annual
meeting.
In response to a question, it was noted that the report was designed within the
protocol requirements of GCC and these had been provided to the designers..
Resolved
That the report be approved subject to the agreed amendments and that the
Chair would be delegated to sign the Annual Report.
23.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW
The Head of Pensions presented the report and referred the Committee to the
recommendations on page 177 of the report. The Committee discussed and
approved the draft work plan.
Members discussed the Conflicts of Interest Policy in detail. In response to a
question, it was explained that there was no issue with having a conflict, providing it
was declared and documented, therefore any issues could be managed
appropriately.
The Committee discussed the third recommendation and the suggestion of
increasing the employer representatives on the committee to two members. Officers
explained that a representative from the academy sector could be sought, as that
sector was the second largest employer base within the fund. Members noted that
the Pension Board as part of it oversight function had a mix of representatives, who
oversaw the work of the Pension Committee.

-5-

Page 11

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Employee representative felt it was regrettable that the employee
representation on the Committee would not be increased at this time, he felt this
was unbalanced as members on the committee represented councils and not those
who contributed directly to the fund. He added as the staff representative he didn’t
feel this was the right decision. The Head of Pensions offered to relay these
comments to the Constitution Committee.
In response to a question regarding proportionality, it was explained that the voting
right would be withdrawn from the employer representatives. Members were
advised that the current voting position was detailed at page 175 of the report.
After some discussion the committee agreed to recommend to the constitution
committee, that representation should include one employee representative, one
district representative and one employer representative.
The Committee continued to discuss the fourth recommendation and agreed to
recommend the duties of the Pension Committee be amended, as set out in
appendix 3 to this report, to the Constitution Committee and for Fund Officers to
draft a report accordingly.
Resolved
That the Committee agreed the draft work plan.
That the Committee agreed to adopt the draft Conflicts of Interest Policy.
That the Committee agreed the recommendations as set out in the report and
requested Fund Officers to draft a report for the Constitution Committee to
consider. In addition, the report would be subject to the approval of the Chair
of the Pension Committee before submission.
That the Committee agreed to recommend the duties of the Pension
Committee, as set out in appendix 3 to this report, to the Constitution
Committee and for Fund Officers to draft a report accordingly.
24.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
Resolved
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items,
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the
public.

25.

EXEMPT MINUTES

-6-

Page 12

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Resolved
That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 18th June 2021 be
approved as a correct record.
26.

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PENSION BOARD
Resolved
That the draft Pension Board exempt minutes of the 28th July 2021 be noted.

27.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2
The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent
Adviser and gave an overview of market valuations and an update on the
performance of the Fund, as at 30th June 2021.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 30th June 2021.

CHAIRMAN
Meeting concluded at 12.35 pm

-7-

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Agenda Item 4
Pension Board
19 October 2021
Gloucestershire Pension Fund update
Quarter ending 30 June 2021
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
This report summarises the Fund’s financial position and operational activities for the
quarter ending 30 June 2021.
The information contained in this report was taken to the Pensions Committee on 24
September and fulfils the requirement for administering authorities, under the Local
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016
must keep under review the performance of their investment managers.

Funding position
The Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to meet earned benefit payments than at the
previous valuation.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4
Past service funding position: The reported past service funding position has improved. The
Fund has a surplus of £522m at 30 June 2021 (compared to a surplus of £41m at 31 March
2019). The improvement has been largely driven by strong investment performance since
31 March 2019.
Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen to 4.0%
p.a. at 30 June 2021 based on a 70% likelihood of being achieved (at 31 March 2019, the
equivalent return was 4.2%p.a.).
Fully funded required return: The likelihood of achieving the future investment returns
needed to have sufficient assets to pay past service benefits has increased since the last
valuation (there is now an 83% chance of achieving the returns needed).
The detailed funding report, prepared by Hymans, is attached at Appendix 1.

Fund Investment Performance
Over the quarter to 30 June 2021, the Fund’s total market value increased by £159.506m,
to £3,057.754m.
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a positive return of 5.4%, compared to a
target of 4.6%, outperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.8%.
Performance over the 3 years to 30 June 2021 was 8.4% ahead of the benchmark by 0.4%.
A detailed quarterly investment performance report is attached as Appendix 2 to this
report.
The Fund participates in the LGPS Investment Performance benchmark undertaken by
PIRC.
For the 2020/21 analysis the universe comprised 64 LGPS Funds, with a combined value of
£230bn. For information, five Funds, including Gloucestershire, whom form part of the
Brunel Pension Partnership, took part in the universe for 2020/21.
Below is a summary of the Total Fund Performance verses the universe average and range
for 1, 3 and 5 years

Page 16

Agenda Item 4
1 Year
Performance
%
26.6

3 Year
Performance
%
7.7

5 Year
Performance
%
9.6

Universe average

22.8

7.6

9.5

Range of Results
Top Quartile
Median
Bottom Quartile

28.1
24.5
20.6

8.9
7.9
6.8

10.2
9.3
8.6

Gloucestershire

Attached as appendix 3 to this report, is the full report on performance to March 2021,
prepared by PIRC for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund. Committee reviewed this report at
its meeting on 24 September and requested that the Fund continue to participate in the
universe for 2021/22.
Investment Strategy and Activities
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place:
•

•
•

The transition of the Funds fixed interest allocations to Sterling Corporate Bonds and
Multi-Asset Credit were commenced to the Brunel Portfolios during the quarter. The
allocations to Multi-Asset Credit and Sterling Corporate Bonds, were previously managed
by Western Asset Management (WAMCO).
The Brunel Sterling Corporate Bond portfolio will be managed by a single manager, Royal
London (RLAM). This transition was not completed by quarter end and therefore shows up
as ‘Blackrock Transition’ in the attached reporting.
The Brunel Multi-Asset Credit portfolio contains three managers, Neuberger Berman,
Oaktree and CQS.

This transition outcome will be reviewed by Officers and reported back to Committee at its meeting
in December 2021.

The current Strategic Asset Allocation is as follows:
Asset Class

Equities
Fixed Interest
Alternatives

Target
Allocation
%

Range
+/- %

55.0
22.0
23.0

3.0
2.0
2.0

Allocation as
at 30 June
2021
%
60.8
19.4
19.7

Variation from
Target
%
5.8
-2.6
-3.3

The detailed Strategic Asset Allocation report is attached as Appendix 4 to this report.

Page 17

Agenda Item 4
Investment Solutions
As requested by the Partner Funds, Brunel have developed and launched 2 new investment
opportunities within the passive portfolio range delivered by LGIM, with climate aligned
benchmarks following extensive work with FTSE Russell in their development.
The increased range of passive investment options now offer the Fund, Net Zero-aligned
passive investment opportunities, as well as providing a path forward for the wider industry.
The new indices reflect FTSE Russell’s expertise in index design. The Paris-aligned
Benchmark meets the minimum requirement of the EU’s Paris-aligned benchmarks by
achieving a 50% reduction in carbon emissions over a ten-year period. It also integrates the
Transition Pathway Initiative’s analysis of how the world’s largest and most carbon-exposed
companies are managing the climate transition.
At its meeting on 24 September, Committee requested that Fund Officers and the Fund’s
Investment Adviser, John Arthur, undertake a review of the Funds current passive
investments in Low Carbon and Smart Beta against the newly launched Paris Aligned
benchmarks to determine whether they will meet the Funds investment and risk objectives
and offer options for the Committee to consider. It was agreed for this report to be brought
back to the December 2021 meeting.

Fund Administration
The Pensions Administration Team are currently continuing to operate under working
practises that are enforced due to the pandemic and these have impacted on operational
delivery. However, the steps undertaken have mitigated the impact on the service delivery
and we continue to monitor the balance between service delivery and staff safety.
The current performance figures for the quarter to 30 June 2021 and previous whole year
comparisons are attached as appendix 5 to this report.
The quarter to 30 June each year is always a challenging quarter, as the Administration Team
have to process and reconcile the year end data for all employers, which then leads to the
preparing for the Annual Benefit Statements. In addition, the pension increase process is also
required to be undertaken, therefore, resources are redeployed accordingly to focus on these
activities.
Performance indicators for this period are normally challenging and not a reflection of the
performance that will be achieved as the year progresses. During this period, we continue to
focus on delivering an equal service level to all members, which can be demonstrated by the
average days taken for cases which exceed target, as outlined to table 2 in appendix 6.
During the quarter to 30 June, we have also seen a marked increase in the number of
retirement estimates (201), which appear to have returned to pre-covid levels. The team are
also experiencing higher levels of individual member questions and engagement, then has
been experienced in a while.

Page 18

Agenda Item 4
Business Plan 2021/22
The following is a summary, together with commentary of the amber key tasks from the
work plan agreed as part of the business plan for 2021/22.
A detailed report against all items is attached as Appendix 6 to this report

Governance
Task

2021/22
Q1

Review Policy Statements

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓

✓

✓

Comment: The activity has yet to
commence, but is now linked to the work
plan for the Governance Review and is
scheduled to take place over multiple
quarters. Anticipated to commence in Q3

Investment Management
Task

Responsible Investment Reporting

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Comment: The activity has yet to
commence, but is now is scheduled to
take place over multiple quarters.
Anticipated to commence in Q4
Review the recommendations of the
Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for
UK Stewardship code signatory status
Comment: The activity has yet to
commence, but is now is scheduled to
take place over multiple quarters.
Anticipated to commence in Q4

Page 19

Agenda Item 4
Administration
Task

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓completed

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to
active and deferred members
Comment: Issued within the statutory
deadline of 31 August.
Possible implementation of McCloud
judgement

✓

Comment: Awaiting further guidance and
IT support.
Possible implementation of revised 95k
cap regulations
Comment: Awaiting revised consulation
from MHCLG.

Pension Board Knowledge Assessment Results
Thank you to Board members for completing the Knowledge Assessment, undertaken by
Hymans on the Funds behalf.
The purpose of the assessment is to gain an immediate understanding of knowledge and
understanding levels of the Board and Committee, with the results feeding into training plans
being developed (for each group).
In total there were 3 respondents from the Board and there were 4 respondents from the
Committee. Each respondent was given the same set of 47 questions on the 8 areas below:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Committee Role and Pensions Legislation
Procurement and Relationship Management
Pensions Governance
Investment Performance and Risk Management
Pensions Administration
Financial Markets and Product Knowledge
Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards
Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practice

The results show the knowledge of Board Members was best in Pensions Governance,
Pensions Accounting & Audit Standards and Financial Markets and Product Knowledge,
whilst Committee respondents was significantly higher for Financial Markets and Product
Knowledge, and Pension Governance than other areas. Both Board and Committee
respondents ranked their current knowledge on Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practices
lowest at this time.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4
Training Plans
Based on the results of the knowledge assessment we have set out below a set of training
priorities below, picking out the key areas for development based on participant assessment
results and the training requests.
Period

Topic

2021/22 – Q3

•

Actuarial Methods, Practices and Standards

2021/22 – Q4

•
•
•

Actuarial Methods, Practices and Standards + Pensions Administration
Committee Role and Pensions Legislation
Investment Performance and Risk Management

2022/23 – Q1

•

McCloud impact, exit credits and Section 13

2022/23 – Q2

•

Procurement and Relationship Management

2022/23 – Q3

•

Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards

2022/23 – Q4

•
•

Pensions Governance
Financial Markets and Product Knowledge

Given the proximity of the 2022 triennial valuation, this is the area that requires greatest
attention. Therefore, training will be provided immediately prior to the next 2 Board
meetings, by Hymans Robertson on this area. Attendance at these sessions will be recorded
on your training logs.
The Fund officers will be looking to supplement this training with bitesize online training
sessions and videos between Board meetings. The Fund will be using the recently launched
Hymans Online Learning Academy (LOLA), to assist in this delivery. The system will
automatically record a member’s completion of a session, and this will automatically be
added to your training logs.
It is intended to re-run the knowledge assessment in 18 to 24 months, time to monitor the
effectiveness of the training that has been delivered.
Other Training Opportunities
Brunel Investor Days – Online Seminars
Brunel Pension Partnership held 2 investor sessions on 27 September and 3 October. Thank
you to those board members that attended and this will be added to your training logs.
For those members unable to attend one or either, recordings will be made available, but
members are reminder that they will need to advise Officers once these have been fully
viewed to be recorded on your training logs.

Page 21

Agenda Item 4
LGA – Fundamentals
The Fundamentals training is a bespoke three-day training course aimed at pension
committee and local pension board members. Day 1 – Legal Framework, Day 2 – Investment,
Day 3 – Duties and Responsibilities
The training is available at three locations, London, Leeds and Cardiff. The London sessions
will be hybrid, so delegates will have the choice of attending in person or virtually. Full details
have been circulated to members via email. Currently we have 5 Pension Board members
enrolled and 3 Pension Committee members.

Recommendation
That the Board notes the report.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 22

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Funding update as at 30 June 2021

Executive summary
31 March 2019

30 June 2021

Assets (£m)

2,379

3,058

Past service liabilities (£m)

2,338

2,536

41

522

Funding level

102%

121%

Assumed future investment return

4.2%

4.0%

Likelihood of achieving this return*

70%

70%

31 March 2019

30 June 2021

Funding target

100%

100%

Future investment return required to be 100%
funded

4.1%

2.8%

Key points to note on the results of this funding update are:

Likelihood of achieving this return*

71%

83%

•

* likelihood of the Fund’s portfolio achieving these returns over the next 20 years

This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to
Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”).
Its purpose is to provide an update on the funding position and risk
metrics as at 30 June 2021 and how these compare to the position at the
last formal valuation of the Fund (31 March 2019). The results consider
the Fund as a whole and not the positions of individual employers (which
may vary materially). This paper contains a high-level summary of the
results. Further details on the methodology, data, reliances and
limitations of these results are contained within the Appendix and the
Fund’s 2019 valuation report.

Page 23

•

The funding position is only a snapshot in time and is based on a
single set of assumptions about the future. The funding level is
therefore extremely sensitive to the choice of assumptions and market
movements, in particular the expected future investment return
assumption.
Actual benefit payments in the future will be in respect of both service
accrued up to today (“past service”) and service that will be accrued in
the future (“future service”). The funding position presented only
considers past service benefits.

•

The assumptions have been derived in line with the Fund’s current
Funding Strategy Statement. The approach to setting assumptions will
be reviewed as part of the next formal valuation; and

•

The judgements relating to McCloud and Goodwin will impact
employers differently (the above analysis doesn’t make any allowance
for these matters).

Reported funding position

Surplus/(Deficit) (£m)

Fully funded target

Past service funding position: The reported past service funding
position has improved. The Fund has a surplus of £522m at 30 June
2021 (compared to a surplus of £41m at 31 March 2019). The
improvement has been largely driven by strong investment performance
since 31 March 2019.
Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns
have fallen to 4.0% p.a. at 30 June 2021 based on a 70% likelihood of
being achieved (at 31 March 2019, the equivalent return was 4.2%p.a.).
Fully funded required return: The likelihood of achieving the future
investment returns needed to have sufficient assets to pay past service
benefits has increased since the last valuation (there is now an 83%
chance of achieving the returns needed).
Therefore, the Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to
meet earned benefit payments than at the previous valuation.

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Liabilities

Fully funded projections

Benefit projections allowing for changes in inflation:

Page 24

The blue bars are the projected annual future benefits payments at 30
June 2021 and the pink line on top shows the total benefit payment
projections at 31 March 2019.
Actual pension increases at April 2020 and April 2021 were less than
expected (1.7% vs. 2.3% and 0.5% vs 2.3% respectively).
Market derived long-term future inflation expectations have broadly stayed
the same since 31 March 2019 (noting that no allowance has been made
for any changes resulting from RPI reform).
The impact of lower than expected pension increases has resulted in a
slight reduction in the projected benefit payments as at 30 June 2021.

September 2021

The green line is the Fund’s projected future asset value assuming future
investment returns are 4.0% p.a. (which we estimate that there is a 70%
likelihood of achieving this based on the Fund’s current allocation).
In order to meet all future benefit payments that have been accrued to
date, the Fund currently:
•

has a surplus of £522m over the assets required as at 30 June 2021
based on a future investment return of 4.0% (the blue line); or

•

needs future investment returns of at least 2.8% p.a. (the orange line,
which broadly tracks the blue line). We estimate that there is an 83%
likelihood of achieving these returns.

002

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Funding level versus future investment return assumption
At 30 June 2021 the estimated funding position has improved, with the
surplus increasing from £41m at 31 March 2019 to £522m.

The chart below shows how the funding level varies under different future
investment return assumptions. The likelihood of achieving these returns
is noted next to each point of the chart.

Funding position

•

From this chart, we can see that the likelihood of achieving any given
future investment return is lower than at 2019 as expectations of
future investment returns have deteriorated.

•

However, regardless of the investment return assumption used, there
has been an improvement in the funding position at 30 June 2021
compared to the 2019 valuation, reflecting an increase in assets held
today per pound of benefit to be paid out in future.

•

This improvement has been driven by strong investment performance
over the period (25.3% since 31 March 2019).

31 March 2019

30 June 2021

Assets (£m)

2,379

3,058

Past service liabilities (£m)
Surplus / (Deficit) (£m)

2,338
41

2,536
522

Funding level*

102%

121%

The funding level has been calculated using a future investment return
assumption which has an 70% likelihood of being achieved in line with the
Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. However, the reported funding level
is extremely sensitive to the return assumption adopted.

Page 25
September 2021

003

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Indicative impact on future contributions

Reliances and limitations

Secondary rate contributions

This paper has been prepared for Gloucestershire County Council as
Administering Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the
purpose described above. It has not been prepared for use for any other
purpose and should not be so used. The paper should not be disclosed to
any third party except as required by law or regulatory obligation or with
our prior written consent. We accept no liability where the paper is used
by or disclosed to a third party unless we have expressly accepted such
liability in writing. Where this is permitted, the paper may only be released
or otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice
and the basis on which it is given.

It can be inferred that the improved past service funding position at 30
June 2021 is likely to have a positive impact on Secondary rate
contributions at the next valuation for the average employer, all else being
equal.
Of course any changes in funding position (and any impact on
contributions rates) will be varied across the Fund’s employers and is
dependent on each individual employer’s membership and funding plans.
Primary rate contributions

Page 26

As discussed above, the past service funding position has improved.
However, the assets held today only cover past service benefits – we still
need to fund those benefits yet to be earned (i.e. Primary Rate
contributions in respect of future accrual). For the average fund, two-thirds
of the benefit payments made over the next 50 years will be in respect of
benefits yet to be earned.
As at 30 June 2021, longer term future market conditions for valuing
benefit costs are expected to be more challenging and are applying
upward pressure to the future service cost (compared to March
2019).
The increased cost of future accrual will lead to increased Primary
contribution rates at the next valuation. For the average employer any
increases in Primary contribution rates may be partially (or wholly) offset
by reductions in Secondary contribution rates.
Summary
Combining both these factors together, if the Fund’s funding strategy and
investment strategy remained static, we may expect funding plans to be
broadly unchanged at the next formal valuation (31 March 2022).
However this may vary between employers.

September 2021

The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to
this advice, and have been complied with where material and to a
proportionate degree:
•

TAS100

This report together with the formal valuation report for the Fund (issued
March 2020) and the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement set out the
aggregate of my advice.

Julie West FFA
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
September 2021

004

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Appendix
Assumptions and methodology

We have also allowed for additional benefit accrual between 1 April 2019
to 30 June 2021. This allows comparison with the Fund’s asset value as
at 30 June 2021.

Liabilities

The future long-term inflation assumption used in the benefit projections
as at 30 June 2021 is 2.3% p.a.. Therefore, as at 30 June 2021 we have
assumed that:
•

Future pension increases are 2.3% p.a.

•

Future CARE pot revaluation is 2.3% p.a.

•

Future salary increases are 2.6% p.a.

The benefit projections assume that membership experience since 31
March 2019 has been in line with the assumptions made. At a whole fund
level, this assumption is reasonable to make and, for the purpose of this
paper, we do not expect this to result in a material inaccuracy.

September 2021

The portfolio returns are based on the Fund’s strategic portfolio of asset,
further details on this portfolio are detailed in the Fund’s 2019 formal
valuation report.

% p.a.

5
years

Further details about the assumptions can be found in the 2019 formal
valuation report dated March 2020.

The calibration of the model as at 30 June 2021 is detailed below. The
following figures have been calculated using 5,000 simulations of the
ESS, calibrated using market data as at 30 June 2021. All returns are
shown net of fees. Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000
simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years,
except for the yields which refer to the simulated yields for at that time
horizon. Only the overall Fund portfolio returns are shown, however
similar information for separate asset classes is available on request.

10
years

Page 27

As such, no allowance has been made for changes in the formulation of
underlying actuarial assumptions. For example, future assumed long-term
inflation expectations may be affected by the recent RPI reform
announcement (RPI is expected to align with CPIH from 2030 onwards) or
longevity assumptions may need to be revisited in light of any emerging
data on the long-term health impact of Covid-19. As part of the 2022
valuation the assumptions will be revisited, and any changes deemed
necessary may have an impact on the funding position.

Future investment returns
To calculate the expected future investment returns, we have used our
proprietary Economic Service Scenario (“ESS”) model, and the same
methodology used to at the last formal valuation. Further details about
the ESS model, and the calibration of the model as at 31 March 2019, can
be found in the 2019 valuation formal report dated March 2020.

20
years

All demographic and financial assumptions underlying the benefit
projections have been derived as per the Funding Strategy Statement in
force as at the 31 March 2019 formal valuation of the Fund, with the
exception of the future inflation assumption (which affects the rate of
future pension increases, CARE revaluation and salary increases).

16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
Volatility (1 year)

Portfolio
returns
-0.9%
3.8%
8.4%
1.0%
4.4%
7.7%
2.7%
5.4%
8.1%
9%

Inflation
(RPI)
0.8%
2.4%
3.9%
0.8%
2.5%
4.1%
0.7%
2.2%
3.8%
1%

17 year real
yield
-2.4%
-1.5%
-0.6%
-1.8%
-0.6%
0.6%
-0.7%
1.0%
2.7%

005

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

The current calibration of the model indicates that a period of outward
yield movement is expected. For example, over the next 20 years our
model expects the 17-year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate
to rise from -2.3% (1.2%) to 1.0% (3.2%).

•

In particular, the benefit structure of the LGPS is currently
under review as a result of the consultation on the McCloud
and Sargeant judgement, HM Treasury’s, and Scheme
Advisory Board’s cost-sharing valuations as well as the recent
outcome of the Goodwin tribunal. Benefit changes as a result
of these issues may materially affect the value of benefits
earned by members both in the past and future. I have made
no direct allowance for these changes and may need to review
my calculations once the outcomes are known.

Model limitations
The models used to calculate the results in the paper make some
necessary simplifying assumptions. I do not consider these simplifications
to be material and I am satisfied that they are appropriate for the purposes
described in this report.
Sensitivity of results

Page 28

The results in this report are dependent on a number of factors including
the membership details, current financial conditions, the outlook for future
financial conditions and demographic trends such as longevity. Changes
in each of these factors can have a material impact on the results. I have
not sought to quantify the impact of differences in the above because of
the complex interactions between them. If further information about the
sensitivity of the results to different data or assumptions is required, this
can be provided on request.
Funding Risks
Please see the FSS for details of the funding risks that apply to the future
ability of the Fund to pay all members’ benefits. These include, but are
not limited to:
•

Market risks – these include investment returns being less than
anticipated or liabilities increasing more than expected due to
changes in market conditions underlying the financial assumptions
(e.g. inflation or pay increases above that assumed etc.).

•

Demographic risks – these include anything that affects the timing
or type of benefits (e.g. members living longer than anticipated,
fewer members opting into the 50/50 option, etc.).

September 2021

Regulatory risks – the LGPS is a statutory scheme. There is a risk
that central Government legislation could significantly change the
cost of the scheme in future.

•

Administration and Governance risks – failures in administration
processes can lead to incorrect actuarial calculations. For
example, where membership data is not up to date (e.g. leaver
forms not being submitted in a timely matter) material inaccuracy in
respect of the level of deficit and contributions may occur at future
valuations.

•

Resource and Environmental risks – i.e. risks relating to potential
resource constraints and environmental changes, and their impact
on Fund employers and investments: such risks exist and may
prove to be material. Given the lack of relevant quantitative
information available specifically relevant to the Fund, I have not
explicitly incorporated such risks in this advice. The Administering
Authority may wish to seek direct advice on these risks.

006

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1
Performance vs Benchmark @ 30 June 2021
Asset Class

Manager

Inception Date

Market Value
31.03.21

Market Value
30.06.21

£000's

£000's

3 Months
Total Return

1 Year
Total Return

Actual
Performance %

Benchmark %

Actual
Performance %

Benchmark %

3 Years
Annualised Return
Actual
Benchmark %
Performance %

Since Inception
Annualised Return
Actual
Benchmark %
Performance %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates
Equities
UK Active Equity

Brunel

Nov-18

373,224

392,522

5.2

5.5

20.1

20.3

-

-

5.1

4.9

Emerging Market Equities

Brunel

Oct-19

176,328

184,418

4.6

5.0

28.7

26.4

-

-

14.5

15.0

Global High Alpha Equities

Brunel

Nov-19

436,140

476,769

9.3

7.8

32.2

24.9

-

-

26.7

16.5

Sustainable Equities

Brunel

Sep-20

254,269

275,743

8.4

7.4

-

-

-

-

18.6

20.9

Low Carbon Equities

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

67,369

72,579

7.7

7.8

24.9

25.1

-

-

13.3

13.4

Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg)

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

-

-

-

-

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg)

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

167,613

180,126

7.5

7.5

36.3

36.5

-

-

13.0

13.1

Smart Beta

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

263,530

278,469

5.7

5.7

22.9

23.1

-

-

9.3

9.5

1,738,473

1,860,626

Total Asset Class

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fixed Interest

Page 29

Global Fixed Interest

WAMCO

Apr-05

381,223

132

0.1

1.7

1.5

1.8

4.3

4.6

5.9

6.3

Global Multi Strategy FI

WAMCO

Sep-11

201,044

-

1.8

0.5

7.0

2.1

4.6

2.6

3.7

2.6

BlackRock Transition

Brunel

May-21

-

391,821

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Multi-Asset Credit

Brunel

Jun-21

-

202,127

6.6

-

-

-

-

-

0.2

0.3

Total Asset Class

582,267

594,080

Alternatives
Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel

Jul-20

217,761

230,308

5.8

0.0

-

-

-

-

5.8

0.0

UK Property

Brunel

Apr-20

193,097

200,954

3.9

3.8

6.0

8.5

-

-

4.6

5.0

International Property

Brunel

Apr-20

13,773

13,750

0.3

1.0

-4.1

-7.2

-

-

-3.1

-0.1

Infrastructure - Cycle 1

Brunel

Apr-18

11,071

11,152

-1.0

1.7

-2.8

2.5

-

-

1.2

1.6

Infrastructure - Cycle 2

Brunel

Apr-20

5,069

8,598

-4.8

1.7

-

-

-

-

-6.2

2.0

Private Equity - Cycle 1

Brunel

Apr-18

10,768

13,085

10.2

7.4

8.9

25.1

-

-

17.3

17.5

Private Equity - Cycle 2

Brunel

Apr-20

640

2,409

2.5

7.4

-

-

-

-

55.8

11.2

Private Debt

Golub Capital Partners

Jul-17

31,710

31,670

2.9

1.2

2.6

5.2

6.3

5.6

6.6

5.6

Private Debt

Arcmont Asset Management

Aug-17

33,360

32,922

3.1

1.2

8.3

5.2

8.0

5.6

7.4

5.6

Venture Capital

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP

Oct-17

4,856

4,856

0.2

-

9.5

-

-3.8

-

-

-

In-house Cash

In-house Cash

50,922

51,073

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fund Manager Cash

Fund Manager Cash

4,481

2,271

-

-

-

-

0.2

-

-

-

577,508

603,048

2,898,248

3,057,754

5.4

4.6

18.1

15.7

8.4

8.0

8.0

8.3

Total Asset Class

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 31

Gloucestershire
Pension Fund
Performance to March 2021

pirc.co.uk

Contents
Section 1
Pages 3-6
Universe Performance
Page 32

Section 2
Pages 7-12
Fund Performance Tables

pirc.co.uk

2020/21 What a Year …..
Latest Year Returns

Page 33
• After the sharp fall in global markets in the Quarter to March 2020, returns bounced back almost immediately
despite the ongoing challenges of the COVID pandemic which has been larger and longer lasting than predicted.
• Funds returned an average of 22.8% for the year, but the range of results was far wider than usual.
• Performance was dominated by extremely strong equity returns, enhanced for many by active manager
outperformance.
• Defensive assets performed more modestly with property being the most disappointing of the major assets,
only just delivering a positive result

Asset Allocation Impacted by Equity Strength
Latest Year Asset Allocation
End March

Page 34

% Allocation
Equities
UK
Overseas

2020
51
10
41

2021
56
10
46

Change
5
0
5

Bonds
UK
Global
Absolute Return
Multi Asset Credit
Private Debt
Cash

21
11
2
6
2
0
2

17
7
2
5
3
1
2

-4
-4
0
-1
1
1
0

Alternatives
Private Equity
Infrastructure
Absolute Return
Private Debt
Diversified Growth

12
6
3
3
0
4

14
7
5
2
1
2

2
1
2
-1
1
-2

Property

10

8

-2

• Most of the change to allocations at this
level came about through relative
market movements.
• Funds have not rebalanced following
the strong equity returns over the year.
• Within Equities there was a significant
switch into 'planet aware' investments.
• Elsewhere there was further
diversification into multi asset credit,
private debt and alternative income
strategies.

Longer Term Results Back in Line
Long Term Asset Returns (% p.a.)

Page 35
Total
Equity
Bonds
Cash
Diversified Growth
Alternatives
Property

3 Years
7.6
10.0
3.9
0.5
3.6
8.1
2.5

5 Years
9.5
12.3
4.9
0.3
4.0
9.2
4.5

10 Years
8.3
9.7
5.7
0.8

20 Years
6.9
7.5
5.8
2.3

30 Years
8.3
9.0
7.3
3.8

8.3
6.9

6.2
6.5

7.7

• Long term performance of the LGPS remains extremely strong.
• The average funds delivered a positive return in all bar six of the last 30 years and delivered an annualised
performance of over 8% p.a.
• Equities have driven the performance.
• Alternatives have performed strongly due in a large part to the excellent returns from private equity.

Equities Continue to Dominate Fund Structures

Page 36
• Equities remain the largest allocation within most fund's assets. Over 80% of this allocation is now invested
overseas.
• The Bond exposure has remained steady but, within that the allocation has changed greatly as funds have moved
from a principally UK index based approach towards more global, diversified absolute return strategies.
• Alternatives have increased over the decade. Private equity makes up a half of this allocation with infrastructure
becoming an ever larger component of the average fund.

Fund Performance
Fund Performance Within Universe Range of Results

The figure shows the Fund return within the range

Page 37

of results achieved by the LGPS Universe in the
latest year. The returns are divided into quarters
(quartiles) and the fund is shown as a red diamond.

• The range of results was much wider in the latest year than is usually seen. This is mainly due to the large
differences between asset classes.
• Funds with a higher equity allocation have outperformed their peers.
• In the latest year the Fund return of 26.6% was above the average of 22.7% .
• This ranked in the 36th percentile.

Fund Asset Allocation
Asset Allocation Relative to Universe Average

Page 38
•
•
•
•

The Fund is structured quite closely to the average.
The key difference is the relatively low level of alternatives and higher exposure to equities.
This allocation delivered a return ahead of the average this year.
This was enhanced by strong performance within the equity and bond portfolios.

Fund Longer Term Performance
Longer Term Returns and Rankings

Page 39

• The latest year result has brought the
medium term performance above
average.
• The 20 year result remains close to
median but below average.

Fund
Universe Average
Ranking

7.7
7.6
(62)

9.6
9.5
(43)

8.5
8.3
(34)

6.6
6.9
(56)

Risk and Reward

Page 40
• Within investments there is always a trade-off between risk and return. Normally the higher a return that
is being looked for the more volatility the Fund must expect.
• In periods to March 2020 this relationship was not visible. However, the strong results from equities in
the latest year has seen it re-emerge.
• On the following pages there is a visible link between risk and return

Fund Risk and Return – Ten Years
Last Ten Years (% p.a.)

Page 41
• Over the last ten years, the Fund has experienced a relatively high level of volatility due
to its higher equity allocation.
• This has been rewarded with outperformance.

Fund Risk And Return – Five Years
Last Five Years (% p.a.)

Page 42
• In the last five years volatility remained above average as did the performance.

Page 43

This report is intended solely for the use of the participating funds. Whilst individual fund returns and rankings may be used, the
report in its entirety should not be copied or distributed beyond these funds.

While all reasonable efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this document there is no
warranty, express or implied, as to its accuracy or completeness. Any opinions expressed in this document are subject to change
without notice. The document is for general information only and PIRC Ltd accepts no responsibility for any loss arising from any
action taken or not taken by anyone using this material.
Pensions & Investment Research Consultants Limited (PIRC Ltd) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA
Register number 144331, see FCA register for registration details) and registered in England and Wales No 2300269.

This page is intentionally left blank

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1

.

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 30 June 2021

Asset Class

Manager(s)

Market Value
30 Jun 21

Target Allocation

Range

Fund Asset
Allocation
31 Mar 21

Variation from
Target

£000's

%

+/- %

%

%

Variation from
previous quarter

Equities
UK Active Equity

Brunel

392,522

12.0

2.0

12.8

0.8



Emerging Market Equities

Brunel

184,418

6.5

1.5

6.0

-0.5



Global High Alpha Equities

Brunel

476,769

13.0

2.0

15.6

2.6



Sustainable Equities

Brunel

275,743

10.0

2.0

9.0

-1.0



Low Carbon Equities

Brunel - LGIM

72,579

4.0

1.0

2.4

-1.6



Passive Developed Equities (Hdg)

Brunel - LGIM

180,126

0.0

0.0

5.9

5.9



Smart Beta

Brunel - LGIM

278,469

9.5

1.5

9.1

-0.4



1,860,626

55.0

3.0

60.8

5.8



Total Asset Class

Page 45

Fixed Interest
Global Fixed Interest

WAMCO

132

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

n/a

Global Multi Strategy FI

WAMCO

-

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

n/a

BlackRock Transition

Brunel

391,821

14.5

1.5

12.8

-1.7



Multi-Asset Credit

Brunel

202,127

7.5

1.0

6.6

-0.9



594,080

22.0

2.0

19.4

-2.6



Total Asset Class
Alternatives
Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel

230,308

0.0

10.0

7.5

7.5



UK Property

Brunel

200,954

7.5

1.0

6.6

-0.9



International Property

Brunel

13,750

2.5

1.0

0.4

-2.1



Infrastructure

Brunel

19,750

5.0

1.0

0.6

-4.4



Private Equity

Brunel

15,494

3.0

1.0

0.5

-2.5



Private Debt

Golub/Arcmont/Brunel

64,592

5.0

1.0

2.1

-2.9



Venture Capital

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP

4,856

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.2



Cash

In-house Cash/Fund Manager Cash

53,344

0.0

0.5

1.7

1.7



603,048

23.0

2.0

19.7

-3.3



3,057,754

100.0

0.0

100.0

Total Asset Class

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total




Moving further away from target
Moving closer to target
Stable against target

This page is intentionally left blank

Pension Administration Summary Performance
Table 1 – Summary Performance
Service

Target
90%

2018/19
Actual
96%

2019/20
Actual
98%

2020/21
Actual
90%

2021/22 to
30/06/2021
79%

Estimates to
employees (15
days)
Retirements and
lump sums (15
days)
Refunds Paid (15
days)
Death Grants Paid
(8 days)
Annual Benefits
Statements issued
within the
statutory deadline
“Transfers Out”
Paid (15 days)

90%

69%

61%

80%

58%

90%

98%

99%

93%

73%

90%

82%

67%

70%

39%

100%

100% see
note 1

100% see
note 1

100% see
note 1

100% see note 1

90%

98%

99%

97%

100%

Table 2 – 2021/22 Performance to 30 June 2021
Service Standards
– Processing
tasks within
internal targets

Estimates to
employees (15
days)
Retirements and
lump sums (15
days)
Refunds Paid (15
days)
Death Grants Paid
(8 days)
2020/21 Annual
Benefits
Statements
issued within the
statutory
deadline
“Transfers Out”
Paid (15 days)

Target
No.
Achievement Processed

No.
processed
on time

90%

201

158

79%

13

Average days
taken
(averaging
cases
exceeding
target ONLY)
not available

90%

206

119

58%

14

20

90%

98

72

73%

12

19

90%

18

7

39%

10

12

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

90%

40

40

100%

5

n/a

1

Page 47

Actual
achievement

Average
days
taken
(averaging
all cases)

2020/21 Performance (full year)
Service
Target
No.
Standards –
Achievement
Processed
Processing
tasks within
internal targets
Estimates to
employees (15
days)
Retirements
and lump sums
(15 days)
Refunds Paid
(15 days)
Death Grants
Paid (8 days)
2020/21
Annual
Benefits
Statements
issued within
the statutory
deadline
“Transfers Out”
Paid (15 days)

90%

534

482

90%

9

Average days
taken
(averaging
cases
exceeding
target ONLY)
not available

90%

872

701

80%

12

19

90%

424

395

93%

10

20

90%

89

62

70%

10

17

100%

34,265 see
note 1

34,265 see
note 1

100% see note
1

N/A

N/A

90%

136

132

97%

6

22

Average
days
taken
(averaging
all cases)

2019/20 Performance (full year)
Service
Target
No.
Standards –
Achievement
Processed
Processing
tasks within
internal targets
Estimates to
employees (15
days)
Retirements
and lump sums
(15 days)
Refunds Paid
(15 days)
Death Grants
Paid (8 days)
2019/20
Annual
Benefits
Statements
issued within
the statutory
deadline
“Transfers Out”
Paid (15 days)

No.
processed
on time

No.
processed
on time

Actual
achievement

90%

739

724

98%

8

Average days
taken
(averaging
cases
exceeding
target ONLY)
not available

90%

983

603

61%

13

19

90%

649

641

99%

7

23

90%

76

51

67%

7

10

100%

34,434 see
note 1

34,434 see
note 1

100%

N/A

N/A

90%

194

192

99%

4

16

2

Page 48

Actual
achievement

Average
days
taken
(averaging
all cases)

2018/19 Performance (full year)
Service Standards –
Processing tasks within
internal targets
Estimates to employees (15
days)
Retirements and lump sums
(15 days)
Refunds Paid (15 days)
Death Grants Paid (8 days)
2017/18 Annual Benefits
Statements issued within the
statutory deadline
“Transfers Out” Paid (15
days)

Target
Achievement
90%

615

No.
processed on
time
587

90%

858

592

69%

13

90%
90%
100%

620
79
34,617 see
note 1

609
65
34,617 see
note 1

98%
82%
100% see note
1

7
7
N/A

90%

147

144

98

5

No. Processed

571

No.
processed on
time
485

768

575

75%

11

448
61
31,190 see
note 1

429
45
31,190 see
note 1

96%
74%
100% see note
1

6
7
N/A

132

122

92%

7

2017/18 Performance (full year)
Service Standards –
Target
Processing tasks within
Achievement
internal targets
Estimates to employees (15
90%
days)
Retirements and lump sums
90%
(15 days)
Refunds Paid (15 days)
90%
Death Grants Paid (8 days)
90%
2016/17 Annual Benefits
100%
Statements issued within the
statutory deadline
“Transfers Out” Paid (15
90%
days)

No. Processed

Actual
achievement
96%

Actual
achievement
85%

Average
days
taken
7

Average
days
taken
10

Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were
received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the
member records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100%
of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory
deadline.

3

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Business Plan 2021/22
The following is an update on the Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed part of the agreed
business plan for 2021/22.

Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this
represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to
take place over multiple quarters:

Governance
Task

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Review of Risk Register

✓completed

✓completed

✓

✓

Approval of External Audit Plan

✓completed
✓ - launched
and ongoing

✓

✓

Implement outcomes of the Funds
Governance Review
Review and approve Business Plan

✓

Annual review against The Pensions
Regulators Code of Practise

✓

Approval of audited Fund accounts

✓ - on agenda

Approval of Annual Report

✓ - on agenda

Review Policy Statements

✓

Training Needs Analysis

✓

✓

✓ - launched
and ongoing

Funding
Task

Review of ongoing funding position

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓completed

✓completed

✓

✓

✓

Cash flow modelling

Page 51

Investment Management
Task

Monitor Fund performance
Responsible Investment Reporting

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓completed

✓ - completed

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓commenced

✓

Asset transitions to Brunel Portfolios

✓completed

Review the inflation exposure on the
Fund and implemented agreed
recommendations

✓

Review the Funds Investment Strategy
Statement

✓

Procure consultancy support in
preparation for the next full strategic
review in 2022/23

✓

Review the Funds Responsible
Investment Policy
Review the recommendations of the
Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for
UK Stewardship code signatory status

✓

Page 52

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Administration
Task

2021/22
Q1

Q3

Q4

✓

✓

✓ - completed

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to
active and deferred members
P60’s distributed to pensioner members

Q2

✓ completed

Recruitment of agreed additional
resources

✓ - ongoing

Annual pension in payment and CARE
accrual increase exercise

✓ - pension in
payment
completed,
Care accrual
ongoing

✓ - ongoing

✓

Annual submission of HMRC Event
report
✓

Issue notices to employees for breaches
of HMRC Annual Allowance limits
Provision of data to actuary to produce
financial accounting required for
employer accounts
Reconciliation of membership data for all
employers

✓ completed

✓ completed

✓ - ongoing

✓ - ongoing
✓commenced

Review and correct data errors
Process and reconcile membership pay
and contribution data for year end

✓ - ongoing

✓
✓

✓ - completed
✓commenced

Data quality assessment for the Pensions
Regulator
Possible implementation of McCloud
judgement

✓

✓

Possible implementation of revised 95k
cap regulations

Page 53

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Agenda Item 5
Pension Board
19 October 2021
Review of the Pension Fund Risk Register
Report of the Head of Pensions
The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and indicates the
significance of each risk and was reviewed by Committee on 24 September 2021.
As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a scoring system
which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the potential impact of such an
occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both
numbers together, the higher the product, the higher the risk.
Risk Score Range
1 to 6
7 to 12
13 to 25

Risk Category
Low
Medium
High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls are in place
(i.e. the inherent and residual risks).
The risks are referenced as follows: Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D) Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R) Governance Risks
(G)
The risk register provided to the Pension Committee reflected that there has been no
substantial movement in the overall risk levels faced by the Fund.
I highlighted a number of the risks below for Committee to acknowledge and comment as
appropriate, and those that remain at levels previously increased by Committee that have
yet to reduce back to previous levels.
Highlighted Risks
•

F6
o The risk remains at an elevate level at this time. This risk will be reviewed once
the inflation and interest rate risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed,
as part of the ongoing work plan.

•

A/R 1.1, A/R 1.2 & G5
o These remain at a medium residual risk as the recruitment plan for the agreed
team resources is still ongoing. Risk G5 will remain elevated at this time until
the delivery of the training plan has commenced and its impact evaluated
after delivery.

Page 55

Agenda Item 5
In addition to the above there was updated narrative being shown in red on risks F9 & G7,
on the attached updated risk register.
All of the remaining risk ratings within the risk register have been reviewed. It is anticipated
that risk G8 and F9 will be removed from the risk register once the last transition has been
reviewed, now that the original transition plan to Brunel has been completed.
Recommendation
That the Board notes and, if required, provides feedback to Committee on the risk register.
Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 56

Ref

F1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line
with the anticipated returns underpinning
valuation of liabilities over the long-term

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

Page 57
F2

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

Controls

R

Only anticipate long-term return on
a relatively prudent basis (currently
4.2% pa for on-going employers per
the 2019 valuation) to reduce risk of
under- performing.
Assets invested on the basis of
specialist advice, in a suitably
diversified manner across asset
16 classes, geographies, managers,
etc.
Analysis of progress at three yearly
valuations for all employers, with
strategic asset allocation to be reexamined by an investment
specialist in the context of the
valuation results.
Inter-valuation roll-forward of
liabilities between valuations at
whole Fund level. Actuarial Review
on a like for like basis has
confirmed a strong deficit recovery
plan.

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash
flow with actuarial estimates of
future cash flow position.
Overall investment strategy options
16
including diversification considered
as an integral part of the funding
strategy. Use of asset liability
modelling. Actuarial Review on a
like for like basis has confirmed a
strong deficit recovery plan.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

4

4

R

8

8

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Long term forecasting of Strategic
Asset Allocation ongoing by
Independent Advisor and reported
quarterly to Committee

The new final strategic investment
allocation and strategy was approved
by the Pension Committee on 14th
February 2020. This has been
followed by an Equity Review in
January 2021. Implementation of
the equity strategy will be
undertaken appropriately.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Version: 1g

Ref

F3

Page 58

F4

F5

Risk or Opportunity Description

Fall in risk-free returns on Government
bonds, leading to rise in value placed on
liabilities.

Increasing Pension Fund deficit

Active investment manager underperformance relative to benchmark.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Maximising investment returns
to help the Fund achieve its
funding target

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

4

3

3

3

Controls

R

Stabilisation modelling at whole
12 Fund level allows for the
probability of this within a
longer-term context.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as
above. Some investment in bonds
helps to mitigate this risk.
Actuarial Review on a like for like
basis has confirmed a strong deficit
recovery plan.

Actuarial review via Triennial
Valuation and regular update
reports.
12 Regular consideration by Pension
Committee on manager
performance relative to funding
assumptions, funding position and
funding strategy. Actuarial Review
on a like for like basis has
confirmed a strong deficit recovery
plan.

Quarterly investment monitoring
analyses market performance and
active managers relative to their
12
index benchmark.
Diversification of investments
across asset classes and across
different fund managers

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

2

3

3

3

R

6

6

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Assumed long term investment
return set as 4.2% for on-going
employers under the 2019
valuation. This long-term
investment return is one of the
factors used to determine the
contributions for all employers
covering the period 2020/21 to
2022/23.

Assets currently exceed the
projected liabilities. Future longterm investment returns still within
tolerance levels. The funding
position will continue to be
monitored on a quarterly basis and
reported to Committee

Performance in the current
portfolio's and in the new Brunel
portfolio's will be monitored against
agreed performance targets and will
be reported back to the Committee
on a quarterly basis.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

F6

Risk or Opportunity Description

Pay and price inflation significantly more
than anticipated.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

2

Page 59
F7

Unexpected increase in employer’s
contribution rate

To stabilise changes in
employer contribution rates
over the long term

Head of
Pension Fund

4

3

Controls

R
The focus of the actuarial valuation
process is on real returns on
assets, net of price and pay
increases.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as
above, gives early warning.
8
Some investment in index-linked
bonds also helps to mitigate this
risk.
Employers pay for their own salary
awards and should be mindful of
the geared effect on pension
liabilities of any bias in pensionable
pay rises towards longer-serving
employees.
An explicit stabilisation mechanism
has been agreed for eligible
employers as part of the funding
strategy. Other measures are also in
place to limit sudden increases in
contributions.
Obtain information on financial
strength of individual employers.
12 Discuss with employers their ability
to absorb rises in their level of
contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate
impact through deficit spreading
and phasing in of contribution
rises, with appropriate security
from employers and further
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

2

2

3

R

8

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

There is a greater risk for a more
inflationary environment as a result
of the Covid pandemic, as
Governments and central banks look
to dealing with the substantial debt
burden the pandemic has caused. A
main risk to the pension funds
liabilities is inflation, due to the
inherent link to the benefits.
A review of the inflation and interest
rate risks on the Fund will be
undertaken in 2021 with any
identified mitigations brought back to
Committee for consideration. Until
this review has been concluded the
risk will remain increased.

Following the 2019 valuation of the
Fund the contribution rates for the
vast majority of employers will
remain at the levels set under the
2016 valuation or will reduce.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

F8

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

A company, without a guarantor, admitted to To ensure individual employers
the Fund as an admission body may become in the Fund are responsible for
financially unviable, leaving a significant
their own costs
financial deficit with the Fund.

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

3

Page 60
F9

Financial loss experienced during the
transitioning of Assets to the new Brunel
Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns
to help the Fund achieve its
funding target

Head of
Pension Fund

3

5

Controls

R

Under current admission rules, a
transferee admission body will
always have a funding guarantee
from the transferring scheme
employer. A community admission
body will only be admitted to the
Fund if they have a funding
guarantee from a scheme employer
with tax raising powers. A surety
bond to cover the cost of paying
pensions early if the company goes
into liquidation is also generally
required by the scheme employer to
12
cover the potential risk of the
admitted body becoming insolvent
and the value of this surety or bond
is reviewed regularly to ensure it
provides adequate cover for the
financial risks involved.
Many years ago, prior to the
introduction of these rules, some
employers were admitted to the
Fund without guarantors. At the
start of 2019/20 there were seven
"old" employers within the Fund
without a guarantor.

Detailed reconciliation of assets
transferred undertaken by the
Finance and Investments Manager.
15
Detailed report from transition
experts commissioned by the Brunel
will be produced following each
transition to provide assurance to
clients.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

3

4

R

6

8

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Four Admitted Bodies without
guarantors now remain within the
Fund. As part of the 2019 valuation
the contribution rates for these
employers were calculated based on a
lower GILTS based investment return,
which results in higher contributions.
This partially addresses this risk for
these four remaining admitted
bodies without a guarantor. Further
engagement and review of the
current position will be undertaken
with these Employers through 2021
ahead of the valuation.

Formal reporting and analysis by
third party consultants is undertaken
to ensure the transitions are
completed in an appropriate manner.
These outputs are reviewed by
Officers and assured back to the
Oversight Board. The final transitions
have now been completed and
evaluation of these transitions will be
reported back to Committee in
December 21.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

F/D1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing
cost to Fund.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

5

2

Page 61
F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively
contributing employees declines relative to
retired employees leading to the possibility
of there not being sufficient liquid funds
available to pay liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimized

4

3

Controls

R

Set mortality assumptions with
some allowance for future
increases in life expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access
to the experience of over 50 LGPS
funds which allows early
identification of changes in life
expectancy that might in turn
affect the assumptions
10
underpinning the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy
assumptions using ClubVita, which
is a specialised longevity company
and provides life expectancy
assumptions based on the profile
of the Fund’s own membership.
Administering Authority encourage
any employers concerned at costs
to promote later retirement culture.
Each 1 year rise in the average age
at retirement would save roughly
5% of pension costs.

Continue to monitor at each
valuation, seeking monetary
amounts rather than % of pay.
12 Between valuations regularly
monitor level of active members on
both a total Fund basis and by
individual employer. Regularly
monitor how cash flow positive the
Fund is. Regularly review investment
strategy.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

2

3

R

4

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

This has been addressed under the
2019 valuation of the Fund with
specific Gloucestershire related data
being supplied by Club Vita analysis,
hence longevity movements have
been specifically considered under
the 2019 valuation. The impact of the
Covid pandemic will continue to be
monitored as part of the Club Vita
analysis, but the impact of this may
only be realized over the longer-term
analysis.

The Fund commissioned Hymans
Robertson to undertake cash flow
modelling based on the following
three scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections
based on 2016 valuation membership
data, Scenario 2 – cash flows
projections based on 2016 valuation
membership data, with a 20%
reduction in actives, Scenario 3 - with
a 40% reduction in active members.
This modelling indicated that the
fund will remain cash flow positive
until 2033 under scenario1, to 2026
under scenario 2 and would
immediately become cash flow
negative under scenario 3. Given that
active membership in the
Gloucestershire scheme is still
increasing slightly it is felt that
scenario 1 is the most likely outcome
for the fund.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

Risk or Opportunity Description

F/D3

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

F/D4

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient
deficit recovery payments

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

Page 62

F/D5

Ill-health retirements significantly
more than anticipated

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

Owner

L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

4

3

3

3

Controls

R
Employers are charged the extra
12 cost of non-ill-health retirements
following each individual decision.

Require employers to pay sums
12 due for deficit recovery
contributions as a fixed monetary
amount rather than being
expressed as a % of pay.

Monitoring of each employer’s illhealth experience on an ongoing
basis. The employer may be
12 charged additional contributions if
this exceeds the ill-health
assumption built in. Ill health
insurance is available to be
purchased by individual employers

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Direction of
Travel

Ref

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

2

3

6

►

Financial

13 Sept 2021

2

3

6

►

Financial

13 Sept 2021

L/V I/B

2

3

R

6

►

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

A new ill health liability insurance
procedure was introduced from 1
April 2020 under which all Town and
Parish Council's, Academy Schools
and Admitted Bodies without
guarantors, as the highest risk
employers within the fund in relation
to this issue are included within an
overall external insurance policy
arranged by the Fund, funded within
the contributions set under the 2019
valuation. All other employers will be
included within the cover of a central
policy unless they formally opt out of
cover, under the procedures agreed
by the Pension Committee in
September 2019. Full details of the
new arrangements were sent to all
employers with the details of the
outcome of the 2019 valuation and
the contributions set for the period
2020/21 to 2022/23. Only three
employers have opted out of the new
insurance arrangements.

13 Sept 2021

Ref

F/D6

Page 63

F/D7

Risk or Opportunity Description

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment
strategy and employer contributions if
large numbers of active members are
outsourced on a “closed” (to new
entrants) basis

Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes
due to introduction of "Freedom & Choice"
resulting in a change in funding level

Significant additional costs resulting from
changes to national pension requirements
A/R1.1 and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising
from public sector pensions reform, and/or
more complex regulations requiring
increased administration resources.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimized

3

3

3

3

3

3

Controls

R

Take advice from the Fund actuary
on the likely impact this will have on
Fund investment out performance
assumptions and employer
contributions. Monitor levels of
9
outsourcings on a “closed” basis and
advise employers of implications so
these are considered when they
review the business case for an
outsourcing.
Regularly review investment
strategy and strategic asset
allocation.

Taken advice from the Fund actuary
on the proportion of the Fund's
active and deferred members aged
55 or over and the maximum
9
exposure of the Fund to these
transfers, split between active and
deferred members. Considered
impact on funding level given
different possible levels of take up
from active and deferred members.

The Administering Authority
considers all consultation papers
issued by the Government and
comments where appropriate.
Considered different % take up
scenarios for active and deferred
9
members
The results of the most recent
reforms have been built into the
valuation. Any changes to member
contribution rates or benefit levels
will be carefully communicated with
members to minimise possible optouts or adverse actions.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

3

2

R

6

4

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

No significant impact to date, but the
risk continues to be monitored on a
regular basis. The comPASS
modelling of contributions payable
by GCC, the Police and District
Council's has taken account of this,
especially the Publica outsourcing
and hence this was considered when
the employer contributions were set
for the years 2020/21 to 2022/23.

The comPASS modelling of
contributions payable by GCC, the
Police and District Council's has
taken account of this, especially the
Publica outsourcing and hence this
was considered when the employer
contributions were set for the years
2020/21 to 2022/23.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.

3

3

9

►

Legislative
&
Regulatory

The residual risk will remain raised
from 6 to 9, until progress in the
recruitment of the agreed resources
has been achieved, at which time it
is anticipated that the residual risk
will be reduced back to the previous
level.

13 Sept 2021

Ref

A/R
1.2

A/R2

Risk or Opportunity Description

Under resourcing of Pension Administration
staff resulting in a deterioration of
performance against key performance
indicators and/or intervention from the
Pensions Regulator.

Failure to collect and account for
contributions from employers and
employees on time

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Experience indicates that
intervention by the Pensions
Head of
Regulator has major implications Pension Fund
in terms of increased workload
and/or adverse financial
implications.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

4

4

3

Page 64
A/R3

A/R4

Loss of funds through fraud or
misappropriation

Does the fund have sufficient resources to
provide sufficient input to the development
of the Brunel Pension Partnership in the
context of the importance of ensuring that
the partnership operates in an efficient and
effective manner.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

To ensure the fund is proactive in
the development of the proposals
Head of
and the robust control
Pension Fund
environment required for the
collective management of assets,
to avoid a detrimental impact on
the fund.

4

4

3

4

Controls

R

This risk is regularly monitored
and, as detailed in risk A/R 1.1
16 actions have already been taken to
increase the level of Pensions
Officers in order to improve
performance against key
performance indicators.

Regular monthly monitoring and
reconciliation of Fund contributions
received, including a detailed
12 analysis of individual employer
contributions and employee
contributions by pay banding.
Robust debt management
processes are in place to recover
any late payments

Procedures and processes are in
place and applied in relation to eg:
checking for "ghost" scheme
members; multiple levels of
12 authorisation for claims and fund
payments plus secondary checking
of lump sum payments. Procedures
are documented and staff are
trained and managed in carrying
these out. The Fund's internal
auditors carry out regular reviews.
Additional staffing resources may
be required to facilitate
dedicated staffing resources to
16 take forward the pooling
proposal. This may require
additional contributions from
participating funds.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Legislative
&
Regulatory

3

3

9

►

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.
The residual risk will remain raised
from 6 to 9, until progress in the
recruitment of the agreed resources
has been achieved, at which time it
is anticipated that the residual risk
will be reduced back to the previous
level.

2

2

2

3

3

3

6

6

6

►

►

►

Legislative
&
Regulatory

Fraud

Legislative
&
Regulatory

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

The funds internal auditors regularly
review the adequacy of controls
within the Pensions Section. These
reviews make use of experienced
Counter Fraud staff who are
available to the internal auditors.

Officer resources are focused on the
important client-side roles, including
looking at the adequacy of control
systems. The future recruitment of
the Pension Investment &
Accounting Manager post will
provide further resilience to this.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

A/R5

Page 65

A/R6

G1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held
on the Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system
Additional financial costs to the
with those held by HMRC could result in
Fund
additional financial costs to the
Gloucestershire Fund.

Without appropriate actions
being taken new retirees would
COVID-19 Pandemic having a detrimental
impact to the Pension Fund service provided not receive their pensions,
contributions would not be
to members and/or to the collections of
received and new investments
pension fund contributions and
would not be actioned
investments.

Administering Authority unaware of
structural changes in an employer’s
membership (e.g. large fall in employee
members, large number of retirements) or
not advised of an employer closing to new
entrants

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

5

4

4

3

4

3

Controls

R

A detailed reconciliation procedure
has commenced and a large
number of discrepancies have been
15 identified where the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not
liable for GMP payments held on
HMRC records.

Due to remote access the majority of
the finance and investment team
staff can all work effectively from
home with a minimal negative
impact on the service. With regard
16
to administration team, due to the
paper-based nature of the service,
effective working from home is not
possible for all staff, and hence
some office working would be
needed to continue to provide an
adequate service to members.

The Administering Authority has a
close relationship with employing
bodies and communicates required
12 standards e.g. for submission of
data.
The Actuary may revise the rates
and Adjustments certificate to
increase an employer’s
contributions (under Regulation
38) between triennial
valuations

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

3

R

6

3

3

9

2

3

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Service
Continuity

Service
Continuity

Governance

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Detailed reconciliation process
completed and results returned to
HMRC which has resulted in a
significant reduction in potential
abilities.

Due to the fact that the majority of
the Finance offices have been empty
since the pandemic, the Pensions
Administration team have taken over
other offices and introduced a social
distancing mode of working. The
team has been split into two, with
each sub team working in the office
every other week. This, supported
by home working, where possible,
has ensured that the key services
have continued to be provided
effectively, especially the calculation
and payment of new pensions,
payment of death grants and the
issuing of Annual Benefit Statements
to all members by the statutory
deadline. The finance and
investment team have worked
effectively at home to deliver the full
service and have met its statutory
deadlines.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

G2

G3

Page 66
G4

Risk or Opportunity Description

Actuarial or investment advice is not
sought, or is not heeded, or proves to be
insufficient in some way

Administering
Authority
failing
to
commission the Fund Actuary to carry out
a termination valuation for a departing
Admission Body.

Failure to comply with the Myners’
Investment Principles

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring its responsibilities are
Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

L/V I/B

4

3

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring its responsibilities are Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

4

3

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

4

3

Controls

R

The Administering Authority
maintains close contact with its
specialist advisers. Advice is
delivered via formal meetings
12 involving Elected Members, and
recorded appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to
professional requirements such as
peer review

The Administering Authority
requires employers with Best Value
contractors to inform it of
forthcoming changes. The
administering authority also
12 monitors contract periods of
Admission Bodies and regularly
monitors levels of active employees
across all employers. Where their
active membership materially
decreases further steps are taken.

Compliance as detailed in the
12 Investment Strategy Statement
and Governance Statements are
kept under regular review.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Direction of
Travel

Ref

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

2

3

6

►

Governance

13 Sept 2021

2

3

6

►

Governance

13 Sept 2021

2

3

6

►

Governance

13 Sept 2021

L/V I/B

R

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Ref

G5

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
Head of
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills
by the Administering Authority,
Pension Fund
and resources at officer and member level
ensuring its responsibilities are
in relation to administering the LGPS
met, while costs are minimised

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

4

Page 67
G6

Failure to internally hold personal data
securely and keep pension records up-todate and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring it's responsibilities are Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

4

4

Controls

R

Training needs assessments for the
Administering Authority are carried
out and an annual training plan
produced. The Fund subscribes to
the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills
16 Framework for the LGPS and makes
this information available to all
members of the Pension Committee
and relevant officers. Appropriately
qualified external advisers and
consultants are used as appropriate.

Personal data and scanned
documents relating to scheme
members are maintained in an
online system with logical access
controls via individual password
access for those that need to
16 maintain and access this
information. Procedures for
maintaining pension records are
documented and the process is
monitored and managed within the
Pensions Administration team.
Procedures are regularly reviewed
by the Fund's internal auditors.
Physical access controls are also in
operation within the Pension Fund
office.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.

3

1

4

4

12

4

►

►

The residual risk will remain raised,
until progress in the recruitment of
the agreed resources has been
Governance
achieved, at which time it is
anticipated that the residual risk will
be reduced back to the previous
level. With the adoption of the
Training Strategy this will provide a
framework for compliance with the
required Knowledge and Skills
requirements for both officers and
members. The training needs
assessment will ensure a robust and
appropriate training plan is
delivered.

Governance

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

G7

Risk or Opportunity Description

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the
lack of adequate training, resulting in a
negative impact on governance
arrangements within the Gloucestershire
LGPS.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimized

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

3

4

Controls

R

Training is provided on an on-going
basis to Committee and Board
12 Members both at formal meetings
of the Committee/Board and at
internal and external training
sessions.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

1

4

R

4

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

Page 68
G8

G9

Transition from the current custodian to
State Street Bank under the Brunel Pension
Partnership resulting in failings during the
transition and/or inadequate performance
reports post transition and/or negative
impacts on the final accounts of the Pension
Fund due to failings in the accounting
reports received from State Street Bank

Failure to comply with the General Data
Protection Regulation resulting in breaches
which have to be reported to the Pension
Regulator and the Information
Commissioners Office resulting in
complaints from scheme members and/or
significant financial fines.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

3

5

4

Detailed control procedures
implemented during the transition
12 with support from a transition
manager working for the Brunel
Pension Partnership

4

Detailed guidance and support was
obtained from the GCC Information
Management Team which resulted
20 in additional guidance being
provided on the Pension Fund
website to meet the requirements
of GDPR.

1

3

3

4

3

12

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

The Pension Board was established in
2015 with members appointed for a
period of 4 years, which can be
extended by 4 years with the
agreement of the member of the
Governance
Board. Three members who have
served for 4 years have confirmed
that they are wish to remain on the
Board. A further 2 members have
been appointed in 2020 to the Local
Pensions Board, bringing the
membership to 6 (3 member and 3
Employer representatives).
Council elections in May 2021 have
resulted in 4 new members of the
Committee and 3 returning members.
The district representative and the
scheme member representative have
also remained on Committee. An
induction session has been held and a
training needs assessment
undertaken which has informed an
appropriate training plan.

No major problems were
encountered during the transitions
Governance undertaken to date and assets
transferred were reconciled back to
the detailed records held by each
manager.

Detailed guidance and support was
obtained from the GCC Information
Management Team which resulted
in additional guidance being
Governance
provided on the Pension Fund
website to meet the requirements
of GDPR. A recent internal audit has
confirmed that there are
satisfactory arrangements in this
area.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

G10

G11

Risk or Opportunity Description

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key
information and data as a result of
exploited technological vulnerabilities
facilitated through malicious attack,
primarily from external sources.

Page 69

Failing to adequately take account of, and
monitor and report on, Environmental,
Social and Governance ("ESG") factors,
including Climate Change, in relation to
the investment of the Funds’ assets,
resulting in negative ESG implications
and/or financial loss.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

L/V I/B

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

In the longer-term investments
with positive ESG impacts may
well lead to improved financial
returns.

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Head of
Pension Fund

5

3

4

4

Controls

R

Anti-malware and internet security
software. Patch management
20 policies and procedures. Compliance
with PSN. Internal and External ICT
security testing. Managing user
privileges.

As a member of the Brunel Pension
Partnership the Fund will benefit
from the fact that ESG factors,
including Climate Change, are
integral to all of the investment
12 decisions made by the BPP on
behalf of Client Funds. Such factors
will be considered for all
investment manager appointments
made by the BPP, and a robust ongoing monitoring and reporting
system of ESG and Climate Change
factors will ensure that the Pension
Committee receives on- going
assurance in this area.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

3

2

3

3

R

9

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Governance

In January 2020 the Brunel Pension
Partnership launched their detailed
Climate Change policy. The
Gloucestershire Pensions Committee
Governance received a copy of this policy at its
May meeting, together with a
detailed presentation from Faith
Ward, the Chief Responsible
Investment Officer at the Brunel, and
a recommendation that the
Gloucestershire Fund formally
adopts the BPP Climate Change
policy.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

13 Sept 2021

13 Sept 2021

Ref

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B R

Controls

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – September 2021

Category of
Period Comments / Additional
Risk or
Opportunity Actions

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Page 70

Agenda Item 6
Agenda Item 6
Pension Board
19 October 2021
Pension Fund Draft Annual Report 2020-21
(including the Financial Statements)
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 requires administering
authorities to prepare a Pension Fund Annual Report and specify what it should contain.
Principally, the regulations and government guidance require that the Annual Report
should include reference to the following documents:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the management and financial performance during the year;
the Fund’s investment policy and a review of the performance of the Fund’s assets;
administration arrangements;
a statement by the Funds Actuary of the level of funding disclosed by the most
recent valuation and the assets and liabilities of the Fund;
the Fund Accounts and Net Asset Statement and supporting notes and disclosures
in accordance with proper practices;
progress on investment pooling including the costs and savings resulting from the
initiative;
the current approved versions of:
▪ Governance Compliance & Policy Statements
▪ Funding Strategy Statement
▪ Investment Strategy Statement
▪ Communications Strategy

The regulations also require the Annual Report to be published on or before 1st December
following the year end.
Please note that the Funds Annual Report can only be published once the Council’s
Statement of Accounts has been approved.
The recognized audience for the Funds’ Annual Report will be:
•
•
•
•
•

employers in the Fund
employees
staff (including those not members of the Fund)
pensioners and their dependents
other pension funds and financial institutions

Page 71

Agenda Item 6
•
•
•

fund managers
government departments; and
interest from the public

Due to the size of the Pension Fund Annual Report, the draft report will be issued to Board
via separate email and not form part of their agenda packs.
The draft Annual Report was reviewed by the Committee on 24 September.
Financial Statements 2020-21
One of the main areas of the Annual Report is the provision of audited year-end financial
statements of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund
The financial statements are included in detail in the Annual Report, including the Funds
income and expenditure, as well as the change in the Fund’s value over the year (with the
prior year comparators).
As can be seen from the tables in the Annual Report, the Fund has experienced a strong
recovery from the fall caused by the Covid-19 pandemic that resulted in a reduction of the
Funds value at the end of March 2020.
The accounts show that the overall value of the Fund increased by £657.927m during the
2020/21 financial year, leading to a year-end value of £2,902.490m.
The financial statements were presented to Committee on 24 September, and will be
presented to the Audit Committee for approval as part of Gloucestershire County Council’s
Accounts.
Audit Findings Report
Attached as Appendix 1 is the draft Audit Finding Report that was tabled and noted by
Committee at its meeting on 24 September.
The draft report states that the audit work is substantially complete and there are no
matters of which they are aware that would require modification of the audit opinion or
material changes to the financial statements, subject to a small number of outstanding
matters.
The auditors have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial
statements, is consistent with their knowledge of our organisation and the financial
statements they have audited.
We are anticipating that the audit report opinion will be unmodified on the conclusion of
the outstanding matters.

Page 72

Agenda Item 6
Once completed the auditors will also provide an opinion of the Annual Report, to be
included in the document.

Recommendation
That the Board notes the current draft of the Annual Report 2020-21.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

The Audit Findings for
Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Year ended 31 March 2021

Page 75

20 September 2021

Commercial in confidence

Contents
Section
1. Headlines

3

2. Financial statements

4

3. Independence and ethics

Your key Grant Thornton
team members are:

Page

14

Appendices

Page 76

A. Action plan

16

Alex Walling

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations

17

Key Audit Partner

C. Audit adjustments

18

T 0117 305 7804

D. Fees

19

E alex.j.walling@uk.gt.com

E. Audit opinion

21

The contents of this report relate only to the
matters which have come to our attention,
which we believe need to be reported to you as
part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant
matters, which may be subject to change, and in
particular we cannot be held responsible to you
for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Pension Fund or all weaknesses in your internal
controls. This report has been prepared solely
for your benefit and should not be quoted in
whole or in part without our prior written
consent. We do not accept any responsibility for
any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or
refraining from acting on the basis of the
content of this report, as this report was
not prepared for, nor intended for, any
other purpose.

David Johnson
Audit Manager
T 0117 305 7727
E david.a.johnson@uk.gt.com
Roz Apperley
Assistant Manager
T 0117 305 7810
E roz.e.apperley@uk.gt.com

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability
partnership registered in England and Wales:
No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury
Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is
available from our registered office. Grant
Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by
the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton
UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton
International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member
firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services
are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its
member firms are not agents of, and do not
obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

2

Commercial in confidence

1. Headlines
This table summarises the key
findings and other matters
arising from the statutory audit
of Gloucestershire Pension
Fund (‘the Pension Fund’) and
the preparation of the Pension
Fund's financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021
for those charged with
governance.

Financial Statements
Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and
the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice
('the Code'), we are required to report whether, in our
opinion:

Our work is substantially complete and there are no matters of which we are aware that
would require modification of our audit opinion or material changes to the financial
statements, subject to the following outstanding matters;
•

Receipt and review of IT documentation

•

the Pension Fund’s financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Pension
Fund and its income and expenditure for the year;
and

•

receipt of management representation letter;

•

receipt and review of the Annual Report; and

•

review of the final set of financial statements.

have been properly prepared in accordance with the
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority
accounting and prepared in accordance with the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial statements,
is consistent with our knowledge of your organisation and the financial statements we have
audited.

•

Page 77

Our anticipated audit report opinion will be unmodified.

Our audit work was completed on remotely during July
to September. Our findings are summarised on pages 3
to 14. We have not identified any adjustments to the
financial statements that have resulted in an adjustment
to the Pension Fund’s reported financial position. Audit
adjustments are detailed in Appendix C. We have also
raised recommendations for management as a result of
our audit work in Appendix A. Our follow up of
recommendations from the prior year’s audit are
detailed in Appendix B.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

3

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements

Overview of the scope of our audit

Page 78

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from
the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those
charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting
process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK)
260 and the Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have
been discussed with management and the Audit and Governance
Committee.
As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) and the
Code, which is directed towards forming and expressing an
opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by
management with the oversight of those charged with
governance. The audit of the financial statements does not
relieve management or those charged with governance of their
responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Audit approach
Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of
the Pension Fund’s business and is risk based, and in particular
included:
•

An evaluation of the Pension Fund's internal controls
environment, including its IT systems and controls; and

•

Substantive testing on significant transactions and material
account balances, including the procedures outlined in this
report in relation to the key audit risks.

We have had to alter our audit plan, as communicated to you in
June 2021. We have adjusted the materiality level used in the
audit of the accounts to reflect the large increase in the value of
the Net Asset Statement. The revised levels are shown overleaf.

Conclusion
We have substantially completed our audit of your financial
statements and subject to outstanding queries being resolved,
we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the
Audit and Governance Committee meeting on 28 September
2021. These outstanding items include:
•

receipt of management representation letter; and

•

review of the final set of financial statements.

Acknowledgements
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation
for the assistance provided by the finance team and other staff.
As highlighted on page 13 of our audit plan presented to the
Audit and Governance Committee in June, the impact of the
pandemic has meant that both your finance team and our audit
team faced audit challenges again this year, such as remote
accessing financial systems, video calling, verifying the
completeness and accuracy of information provided remotely
produced by the entity and access to key data from Pension Fund
staff. This resulted in us having to carry out additional audit
procedures, to gain sufficient audit assurance in respect of our
auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

4

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements
Pension Fund Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered

.

Materiality for the financial
statements

29,000,000 We considered the proportion of the net assets to the Fund to be an appropriate
benchmark for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same benchmark.
This equates to 1% of total net assets for the 2020/21 financial year

Performance materiality

21,700,000 This is considered an appropriate benchmark as we have not identified a history of
significant deficiencies in the control environment or a large number of significant
misstatements in prior year audits. The management and finance team remain
stable. This equates to 75% of materiality

Our approach to materiality

Page 79

The concept of materiality is fundamental
to the preparation of the financial
statements and the audit process and
applies not only to the monetary
misstatements but also to disclosure
requirements and adherence to
acceptable accounting practice and
applicable law.

Trivial matters

1,500 ISA260 defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether
taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or
qualitative criteria. This is based on 5% of materiality, which we consider to be an
appropriate threshold to use in terms of our reporting to the Audit and Governance
Committee as ‘Those Charged with Governance’.

We have revised the materiality due to
the actual Net Asset Statement position
changing significantly from that at the
planning stage, upon which planning
materiality was based, resulting in a
review of the appropriateness of the
materiality figure.
We detail in the table below our
determination of materiality for
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

5

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying
risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those
risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

This section provides commentary on the significant audit risks communicated in the Audit Plan.
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Commentary

Management override of controls

We addressed the significant risk of management override of controls by:

Page 80

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the •
risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities.
•
We therefore identified management override of control, in
•
particular journals, management estimates and transactions outside
the course of business as a significant risk, which was one of the
•
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement.

evaluating the design effectiveness of management controls over journals;
analysing the journals listing and determining the criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals;
identified and tested unusual journals made during the year and the accounts production stage for appropriateness and
corroboration; and
gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical judgements applied by management and considered their
reasonableness.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of management override of controls.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

6

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Commentary

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions (rebutted)

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Fund, we have
Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may be determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted.
misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.
Our audit work has not identified anu issues in respect of revenue recognition and the rebuttal assumption is still
appropriate.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no risk of
material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.
Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue
streams at the Fund, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue
recognition can be rebutted, because:

Page 81

•

there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

•

opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

•

the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Gloucestershire
Pension Fund mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Gloucestershire Pension
Fund.
The expenditure cycle includes fraudulent transactions (rebutted)
Practice Note 10: Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the United
Kingdom (PN10) states:

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Fund, we have
determined that the risk of fraud arising from expenditure can be rebutted.
Our audit work has not identified anu issues in respect of expenditure and the rebuttal assumption is still appropriate

"As most public bodies are net spending bodies, then the risk of material
misstatement due to fraud related to expenditure may be greater than the risk of
material misstatements due to fraud related to revenue recognition". Public sector
auditors therefore need to consider whether they have any significant concerns
about fraudulent financial reporting of expenditure which would need to be treated
as a significant risk for the audit.
We have rebutted this presumed risk for Gloucestershire Pension Fund because:
•

expenditure is well controlled and the Fund has a strong control environment;
and

•

the Fund has clear and transparent reporting of its financial plans and financial
position to those charged with governance.

We therefore do not consider this to be a significant risk for Gloucestershire Pension
Fund.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

7

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - Significant risks

Page 82

Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Commentary

Valuation of Level 3 investments
The Fund revalues its investments on an annual basis to ensure that
the carrying value is not materially different from the fair value at
the financial statements date.

In order to address the significant risk of valuation of level 3 investments being incorrect, we performed the following;

By their nature, Level 3 investment valuations lack observable
inputs. These valuations therefore represent a significant estimate
by management in the financial statements
du the
Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant non-routine
transactions and judgemental matters. Level 3 investments by their
very nature require a significant degree of judgement to reach an
appropriate valuation at year end.

•

gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 investments and evaluate the design of the associated controls;

•

reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what assurance management has over the year end valuations
provided for these types of investments;

•

considered the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used;

•

reviewed the qualifications of the expert to value Level 3 investments at year end and gain an understanding of how the valuation
of these investments has been reached; and

•

for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining and reviewing the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest
date for individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date. Reconciled those values to the values
at 31 March 2021 with reference to known movements in the intervening period.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of the valuation of these investments.

Management utilise the services of investment managers and
custodians as valuation experts to estimate the fair value as at 31
March 2021.
We therefore identified valuation of Level 3 investments as a
significant risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks
of material misstatement.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

8

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
This section provides commentary on key estimates and judgements inline with the enhanced
requirements for auditors.
Significant judgement or estimate

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

Assessment

Level 3 Investments – £246m

The Pension Fund has level 3 investments that in total are
valued on the balance sheet as at 31 March 2021 at £246.053
million. The total of this balance is made up of property pooled
funds, private equity funds, private debt and corporate bonds.

We have reviewed the level 3 investments disclosed in the statement of
accounts and have reviewed the assumptions used by fund managers
against third party information and data.

Light Purple

Page 83

The level 3 investments are not traded on an open
exchange/market and the valuation of the investment is highly
subjective due to a lack of observable inputs. The basis of
valuation for each category of level 3 investments is set out in
note 26 to the financial statements. The overall value of level 3
investments has decreased by £22.988 million in 2020/21.
Level 2 Investments – £2592.5m

The Pension Fund have investments in bonds, derivatives,
pooled investments and property pooled investments that in
total are valued on the balance sheet as at 31 March 2021 at
£2,592.5 million.
The investments are not traded on an open exchange/market
and the valuation of the investment is subjective. The basis for
each category of level 2 investments is set out in note 26 to the
financial statements. The value of the investment has increased
by £642.3m in 2020/21 due to an increase in market values
following the previous downturn as a result of Covid-19.

We have concluded that level 3 investments included in the statement of
accounts have been appropriately calculated and are consistent with
other sources of evidence.
The valuations have been provided by the Fund Managers and we have
assessed these as management’s experts, including review of control
reports. We have assessed the competency of the experts and concluded
that they have the appropriate expertise to provide valuations
We have reviewed the level 2 investments disclosed in the statement of
accounts and have gained independent conformation of unit prices
through third party information such as the stock exchange.

Light Purple

Some valuations have been provided by Fund Managers and we have
assessed these as management’s experts, including review of control
reports. We have assessed the competency of the experts and concluded
that they have the appropriate expertise to provide valuations
We have concluded that level 2 investments included in the statement of
accounts have been appropriately calculated and are consistent with
other sources of evidence.

Assessment





[Purple] We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
[Blue] We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
[Grey] We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
[Light Purple] We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

9

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other communication
requirements

Page 84

We set out below details of
other matters which we, as
auditors, are required by
auditing standards and the
Code to communicate to those
charged with governance.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Issue

Commentary

Matters in relation to
fraud

We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Governance Committee. We have not been made aware
of any incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

Matters in relation to
related parties

We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

Matters in relation to
laws and regulations

You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we
have not identified any incidences from our audit work.

Written
representations

A letter of representation has been requested from the Pension Fund, which is included in the Audit and Governance
Committee papers.

10

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other communication
requirements

Page 85
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Issue

Commentary

Confirmation
requests from
third parties

We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to custodians and Fund Managers. This
permission was granted and the requests were sent all of these requests were returned with positive confirmation.

Accounting practices

We have evaluated the appropriateness of the Pension Fund's accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial
statement disclosures. Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

Audit evidence
and explanations/
significant difficulties

•

All information and explanations requested from management was provided

•

We were provided with good working papers and support from the Pension Fund finance team throughout the audit
process

11

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other communication
requirements
Issue

Commentary

Going concern

In performing our work on going concern, we have had reference to Statement of Recommended Practice – Practice Note
10: Audit of financial statements of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020). The Financial Reporting
Council recognises that for particular sectors, it may be necessary to clarify how auditing standards are applied to an entity
in a manner that is relevant and provides useful information to the users of financial statements in that sector. Practice
Note 10 provides that clarification for audits of public sector bodies.
Practice Note 10 sets out the following key principles for the consideration of going concern for public sector entities:

Page 86

•

the use of the going concern basis of accounting is not a matter of significant focus of the auditor’s time and resources
because the applicable financial reporting frameworks envisage that the going concern basis for accounting will apply
where the entity’s services will continue to be delivered by the public sector. In such cases, a material uncertainty
related to going concern is unlikely to exist, and so a straightforward and standardised approach for the consideration of
going concern will often be appropriate for public sector entities

•

for many public sector entities, the financial sustainability of the reporting entity and the services it provides is more
likely to be of significant public interest than the application of the going concern basis of accounting.

Practice Note 10 states that if the financial reporting framework provides for the adoption of the going concern basis of
accounting on the basis of the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, the auditor applies the
continued provision of service approach set out in Practice Note 10. The financial reporting framework adopted by the
Pension Fund meets this criteria, and so we have applied the continued provision of service approach. In doing so, we have
considered and evaluated:
•

the nature of the Pension Fund and the environment in which it operates

•

the Pension Fund's financial reporting framework

•

the Pension Fund's system of internal control for identifying events or conditions relevant to going concern

•

management’s going concern assessment.

On the basis of this work, we have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to enable us to conclude that:

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

a material uncertainty related to going concern has not been identified

•

management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.

12

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other responsibilities
under the Code
Commentary

Disclosures

Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements. A small number of disclosure amendments were made
to the financial statements which are set out in Appendix B.

Matters on which we
report by exception

We are required to give a separate opinion for the Pension Fund Annual Report on whether the financial statements
included therein are consistent with the audited financial statements. Due to statutory deadlines the Pension Fund Annual
Report is not required to be published until the 1st December 2021 and therefore this report has not yet been produced.
We have therefore not given this separate opinion at this time and are unable to certify completion of the audit of the
administering authority until this work has been completed.

Page 87

Issue

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

13

Commercial in confidence

3. Independence and ethics
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as
auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered
person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements

Transparency
Grant Thornton publishes an annual Transparency Report, which sets out details of the action we
have taken over the past year to improve audit quality as well as the results of internal and external
quality inspections. For more details see Transparency report 2020 (grantthornton.co.uk)

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm
that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.
Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance
Note 01 issued in May 2020 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for
auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix D

Page 88

Audit and non-audit services
For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Pension Fund. The following non-audit services were identified which were charged from
the beginning of the financial year to 28 September 2021, as well as the threats to our independence and safeguards that have been applied to mitigate these threats.

Service

Fees £

Threats identified

Safeguards

7,000

Self review

This is not considered a significant threat as w e are not reviewing any information that w e have prepared. As this is an
audit related service, it is acceptable for the audit team to carry out this work. In addition, w e have not prepared the
financial information on w ich our assurances w ill be used by the requested auditors to form an opinion on as part of
their opinion on the financial statements of the admitted body.

Management

The scope of the work does not included making decisions on behalf of management or recommending or suggesting a
particular course of action for management to follow . We w ill not be making any recommendations as part of this work

Audit related

Provision of IAS19 Assurances
to Scheme Employer Auditors

These services are consistent with the Pension Fund’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

14

Page 89

Appendices

15

Commercial in confidence

A. Action plan – Audit of Financial Statements
We have identified one recommendation for the Pension Fund as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have
agreed our recommendation with management and we will report on progress on this recommendation during the course of the 2021/22
audit. The matter reported here is limited to the deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we have
concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Assessment
Low

Page 90

Issue and risk

Recommendations

Audit identified a number of manual journals where there was no description. The
nature of these journals is therefore not easily identifiable and it is not always
possible to identify the purpose of the journal and there is a risk fraudulent
transactions could be missed.

Management should consider ensuring that all manual journals include descriptions in order to
further mitigate the risk of fraudulent transactions.
Management response
Management will review current systems with the aim of making the description field mandatory.

Controls



High – Significant effect on financial statements
Medium – Limited Effect on financial statements



Low – Best practice

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

16

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations

Page 91

We identified the following
issues in the audit of
Gloucestershire Pension Fund's
2019/20 financial statements,
which resulted in two
recommendations being
reported in our 2019/20 Audit
Findings report.

Assessment
✓

Issue and risk previously communicated

Update on actions taken to address the issue

Journal authorisation

A review of the journal process has confirmed that a
retrospective review process for all significant journals is in
place and is operating in line with the Pension Fund’s processes.

The Pension Fund introduced a retrospective review
process for all significant journals that reflected both
the role of the originator and the amounts involved.
However this has not operated as intended since the
lockdown arrangements began in March 2020.
In progress

IT Segregation of Duties
Our IT auditors noted that there w ere an excessive
number of users with administrative privileges. The
findings from our IT review were previously agreed with
management and the recommendations agreed.

Our IT work is still ongoing and this includes the consideration
of prior year issues. We will report any findings from this work
to management and Members.

Assessment

✓

Action completed

X

Not yet addressed

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

17

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit Adjustments
We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by
management.
Impact of adjusted and unadjusted misstatements
We have not identified any adjusted or unadjusted misstatements in the audit of the accounts.
Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial
statements.

Page 92

Disclosure omission

Auditor recommendations

Investment income showed pooled property investments as £11,933k.
However this was made up of two balances - pooled investment
vehicles £3,608k and pooled property investments £8,325k - that
should be disclosed separately.

Management should ensure all significant funds are disclosed separately to ensure full transparency for the
reader of the accounts.

✓

The accounting polices for asset valuation did not reference the
Pension Fund’s policy for amortisation.

Management should ensure that all policies are appropriately disclosed in the statements.

✓

The additional voluntary disclosure note previously disclosed the
treatment of the death in service premium. This is not a requirement
of the Code and has been removed from the final statements.

Management should ensure all note are disclosed in line with the requirements of the Code.

✓

General disclosures – other general amendments

Other amendments including spelling, grammar and syntax and other minor disclosures, which have not
been separately disclosed should be adjusted and included.

✓

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Adjusted?

18

Commercial in confidence

D. Fees

Details of variations in final fees from the
proposed fee per the audit plan

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

The fees reconcile to the financial statements.
Audit fees

Page 93

Proposed fee

Final fee

Pension Fund Audit

£32,575

* TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

£32,575

TBC

* Once all work has been completed on the audit, we will assess the need for any changes to the proposed fees. This will be discussed with management
and then be submitted to PSAA for final approval.

Non-audit fees for other services
Audit Related Services – IAS 19 assurance
Total non-audit fees (excluding VAT)

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Proposed fee

Final fee

7,000

7,000

£7,000

£7,000

19

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below.
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report.
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Gloucestershire County Council
on the pension fund financial statements of Gloucestershire Pension Fund

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern

Opinion

Page 94

We have audited the financial statements of Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the
‘Pension Fund’) administered by Gloucestershire County Council (the ‘Authority’) for
the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets
Statement and notes to the pension fund statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the Pension Fund during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and of the amount and disposition at that date of
the fund’s assets and liabilities,

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of
practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the
Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements in the UK, including the
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Executive Director of
Corporate Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Pension Fund to cease
to continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources’ conclusions, and in
accordance with the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Pension Fund’s
financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the
inherent risks associated with the continuation of services provided by the Pension
Fund. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of
financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom
(Revised 2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector
entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the
Authority in the Pension Fund financial statements and the disclosures in the Pension
Fund financial statements over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

20

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below.
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report.
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Executive Director of
Corporate Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the Pension Fund financial statements is appropriate.

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) published
by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General
(the Code of Audit Practice)

The responsibilities of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources with respect to
going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive
Director of Corporate Resources and Those Charged with Governance for the
financial statements’ section of this report.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the Pension
Fund’s financial statements and our knowledge of the Pension Fund, the other
information published together with the Pension Fund’s financial statements in the
Statement of Accounts , for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the Pension Fund financial statements.

Other information

Page 95

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of
Accounts , other than the Pension Fund’s financial statements, our auditor’s report
thereon, and our auditor’s report on the Authority’s financial statements. Our opinion on
the Pension Fund’s financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the Pension Fund’s financial
statements or our knowledge of the Pension Fund obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the Pension Fund financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of
the audit; or

•

we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is
contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or;

•

we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters in relation to the Pension
Fund.

21

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below.
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report.
Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources
and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements

Page 96

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Authority is required to
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In
this authority, that officer is the Executive Director of Corporate Resources. The
Executive Director of Corporate Resources is responsible for the preparation of the
Statement of Accounts, which includes the Pension Fund’s financial statements, in
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Executive Director of
Corporate Resources determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Pension Fund’s financial statements, the Executive Director of
Corporate Resources is responsible for assessing the Pension Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention
by government that the services provided by the Pension Fund will no longer be
provided.

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to
detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the
inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements
in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly
planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud is detailed below:
•

The Audit and Governance Committee is Those Charged with Governance for the
Pension Fund. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Authority’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Pension Fund’s
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are
applicable to the Pension Fund and determined that the most significant, which
are directly relevant to specific assertions in the financial statements, are those
related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as
interpreted and adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, The Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Public
Service Pensions Act 2013, The Local government Pension Scheme
Regulations 2013 and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016

.

•

We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and Governance Committee,
concerning the Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:
−

the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

−

the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and
22

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below.
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report.
-

the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-

−

Identifying and testing unusual journals made during the year and the
accounts production stage for appropriateness and corroboration

−

Gaining an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical
judgements applied by management and considering their
reasonableness.

compliance with laws and regulations.

•

•

Page 97
•

We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Audit and Governance
Committee, whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations or whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

•

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that
the financial statements were free from fraud or error. However, detecting
irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting
those that result from error, as those irregularities that result from fraud may
involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we would become aware of it.

•

The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, including the potential for fraud in revenue and
expenditure recognition, and did not identify any areas of non-compliance.

•

Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and
capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement
team's:

We assessed the susceptibility of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to
material misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’
incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This
included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We
determined that the principal risk was in relation to:
−

Journals, management estimations and transactions outside the course
of normal business

−

Journal transactions which contain individual lines within the transaction
which have a material impact on profit

−

Journals where the user has made posting less frequently than monthly
as we would expect Pension Fund users to post at least one journal per
month

−

Journals entered after the year end date as there is increased incentive
to potentially manipulate the outturn performance at this stage.

Our audit procedures involved:
−

−

evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Executive
Director of Corporate Resources has in place to prevent and detect
fraud;
analysis of the journals listing and determination of the criteria for
selecting high risk unusual journals

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

−

understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a
similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and
participation

−

knowledge of the local government pensions sector

−

understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the
Pension Fund including:
−

the provisions of the applicable legislation

−

guidance issued by CIPFA, LASAAC and SOLACE

−

the applicable statutory provisions.
23

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below.
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report.
•

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an
understanding of:

Page 98

−

the Pension Fund’s operations, including the nature of its income and
expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to
understand the classes of transactions, account balances, expected
financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in
risks of material misstatement.

−

the Authority's control environment, including the policies and
procedures implemented by the Authority to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the financial reporting framework.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance
with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph
43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and
the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

[Signature]

Alex Walling, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
Bristol
[Date]
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

24

Page 99
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context
requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Agenda Item 7
Pension Board
19 October 2021
Governance Review
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
The report is prepared to update the Board on the progress of the outcomes of the
Governance Review, seek the Boards continuing comments on the recommendations,
monitor progress, as well as receive appropriate recommendations relevant to the Boards
activities and oversight.
The final report from AON was presented to the Committee at their meeting on 18 June
and to the Board on 28 July. The overall conclusion was that the governance of the Fund is
of a good standard in many areas, meets legal requirements in the matters that have been
considered, and in a number of areas the Administering Authority is demonstrating best
practice. AON noted that significant improvements in relation to the governance of the
Fund appear to have been made recently.
The final report also contains commentary and recommendations on certain areas that
require improvement to meet legal requirements or practices, or could be improved to
meet good practice. All the recommendations have been adopted by Committee and the
Board
This report sets out the latest position on the progress of those recommendations.

Work Plan
Attached as appendix 1 to this report, is the work plan in relation to the 21
recommendations contained in the final report of AON. The work plan was adopted by
Pensions Committee at the meeting on 24 September.
The work plan, which will be regularly brought back to both Committee and Board to
monitor as part of the Fund Update agenda item, outlines the recommendation and the
anticipated timescales and likely Committee/Board meeting the action will be brought to.
This has been reviewed by Officers to dovetail in with the work plan agreed as part of the
business plan.
One recommendation has already been completed. This is in relation to increase the
number of Pension Board meetings each year and they will increase from 2 to 4 meetings
per year.

Page 101

Agenda Item 7
Further recommendations have now been actioned and form part of the remainder of this
report.
The Board is invited to note the agreed work plan.

Conflicts of Interest Policy
The main aim of this recommendation was to create a policy to identify and manage the
potential conflicts of interest between the County Councils role as Administering Authority
and its role as a scheme employer. This includes the potential conflict of interest for
County Council Officers, in particular, the section 151 Officer.
Although not yet explicit in any legislation or guidance, it is now seen as good practice for a
Fund to have a Fund specific Conflicts of Interest Policy applying to all stakeholders, and
this is mentioned as part of the CIPFA annual report guidance. It is also noted that a
recommendation is contained within the SAB Good Governance review for a Fund to have
a specific Conflicts of Interest Policy and that this will be required by statutory guidance.
The Conflicts of Interest Policy, attached as appendix 2 to this report has been prepared by
AON in conjunction with the Fund’s Officers and covers the points raised above as well as
the general conflicts likely to be experienced in administering the Pension Fund. The Policy
was adopted by Pensions Committee at its meeting on 24 September.
The Board is invited to adopt the Conflicts of Interest Policy.

Review of the Constitution of the Pension Committee
Attached as appendix 3 to this report, is a detailed paper prepared by AON in consultation
with Fund Officers.
The paper sets out the recommendations in relation to the proposal of further
representation from employers and scheme members on the Pension Committee of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.
At a high level the recommendations debated by Committee at its meeting were:
•
•
•
•

Retain a district council (employer) representative that is nominated by the
Gloucestershire branch of the Local Government Association to represent the
interests of District Councils
Retain a scheme member representative that is selected through nominations by
the trade unions
Include an additional employer representative, with applications invited from all
employers (excluding Gloucestershire County Council and the district councils)
Make all employer and employee representatives (i.e. the two existing

Page 102

Agenda Item 7
•

representatives and the one new representatives) non-voting members of the
Pension Committee.
Review the situation in 2 years with consideration as to whether recommending any
further changes is desirable at that time.

The following information was provided to inform the debate and provide a comparison of
the representation from other similar sized LGPS funds:
Fund

No of
Scheme
Member
Reps

Voting
Rights

Fund A

1

Fund B

Notes

No of
Employer
Reps

Voting
Rights

No

4

No

2

Yes

2

Yes

Fund C

3

Yes

1 vote for all 3
reps

4

Yes

Fund D

3

Yes

1 vote for all 3
reps

5

Yes

Fund E
Fund F

1
1

Yes
Yes

3
3

Yes
Yes

Notes

2 – Academy
1 – District
1 - Other
1 – Academy
1 - Other
2 – Unitary
1 – District
1 - Other
1 – Academy
1 – HFE
3 – Unitary
Also, includes
additional 3
independent
members with
votes
3 – District
1 – District
1 – Police
1 - Other

The increase recommended in relation to the employer representative, is more in keeping
with the representative numbers seen at other LGPS funds, where employer
representatives are in greater numbers than scheme member representatives.
By increasing the employer representative now and reviewing whether additional changes
are desirable in 2 years, this will allow for the term of appointments to be staggered,
which would mean not all representatives would potentially be replaced at the same time.
The Board is invited to note the Committees agreed recommendations regarding the
proposed future Constitution of the Committee.

Page 103

Agenda Item 7
Review of the duties of the PC
It was also recommended that the duties of the PC as set out in the Constitution are
reviewed. AON observed that the majority of the duties currently listed are investment
focused, and there is limited reference to duties relating to administration, communication
and governance matters. AON recommended that, whilst these areas are being covered by
the PC, they should be made more explicit within the duties set out in the Constitution.
It was noted that in particular there was no explicit mention of areas such as agreeing and
monitoring the administration strategy, communications policy or the Fund’s business plan
and budget. The latter point is one of the key recommendations of the SAB Good
Governance review which states that each administering authority must ensure their PC is
included in the business planning process.
Therefore, included in appendix 3 to this report, is a recommendation of the duties that
will be recommended to the Constitution Committee to be included in the constitution of
the Pension Committee.
The Board are invited to note the Committees agreement to recommend to the
Constitution Committee that the duties of the Pension Committee, as set out in appendix
3 to this report, be amended.
The duties of the Local Pension Board have been reviewed as part of the AON review and
no amendments have been recommended and these are consistent with the requirements
of the SAB Good Governance Review.

Recommendations
The recommendations for the Board are set out throughout the report, but are summarised
below:
1. The Board is invited to note the agreed work plan.
2. The Board is invited to adopt the Conflicts of Interest Policy.
3. The Board is invited to note the Committees agreed recommendations regarding
the proposed future Constitution of the Committee.
4. The Board is invited to note the Committees agreement to recommend to the
Constitution Committee that the duties of the Pension Committee, as set out in
appendix 3 to this report, be amended.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 104

Aon

Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Governance Review – Action Plan
This action plan builds on the recommendations set out in our Governance Review report dated 9 June 2021. This is designed to be a high-level action
plan setting out the key actions and we have added timescales to assist the Fund in monitoring progress of these actions on an ongoing basis that were
agreed in our discussion with Matthew Trebilcock on 26 July 2021.

Page 105

Action

Reason

Review of PC Constitution produce report to take to
September 2021 PC meeting with
proposal

Consider whether the Committee could have further
representation from other employers and scheme members in the
Fund. Also need to consider voting rights of these representatives.

Aon

In advance of September
2021 PC meeting

The majority of the duties of the PC are investment focused.
Consider including a number of non-investment duties as well.

Aon

In advance of September
2021 PC meeting

Aon

In advance of September
2021 PC meeting

Aon

In advance of December
2021 PC meeting

Ensure breaches log covers all expected areas, and ensure this is
populated and taken to PC and PB for information.

Aon

In advance of December
2021 PC meeting

We understand that this was last reviewed in 2016.

Aon

In advance of December
2021 PC meeting

Review of duties of the PC

Who With

Timescales

Action is ultimately to update the PC Terms of Reference
No policy currently in place.

Develop a Fund Conflict of
Interest Policy

Fund currently relies on the Council's Conflicts of Interest Policy
No policy currently in place.

Develop a Fund Risk
Management Policy

Develop a policy to provide a clearer risk management framework
(incorporating existing risk register)

Review the Fund's Breaches log
Review the Fund's Breaches of
Law Procedure

Aon Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.
Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810
Registered office:
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN

Aon

Action

Reason
Current policy dates back to September 1999

Update the Administering
Authority's Discretionary Policy

Update the Fund's Governance
Compliance Statement and
Policy

Page 106

Review of Scheme of Delegation

Who With

Timescales

Aon

Q3 2021/22

Aon

Q3 - Q4 2021/22

Aon

Q3 - Q4 2021/22

Due to the age of the current policy this is effectively going to be a
brand-new policy given that so much has changed since the
current policy was written.
The current Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We would
anticipate this document being reviewed in conjunction with the
Governance Policy statement which was last reviewed in
February 2020.
We understand that an updated Compliance Statement has been
drafted so we assume that our input would be to review the draft
updated policy
Review Council’s Scheme of Delegation to ensure that pension
fund matters are covered.
Consider this in conjunction with recommendation from SAB Good
Governance review regarding LGPS senior officer.

Review the Fund's
Communications Policy

We understand that a review was due to be undertaken in
2019/20 but this did not take place

Aon

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 2022/23

Review the Fund's
Administration Strategy

Last reviewed in 2017

Aon

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 2022/23

Our report suggested some potential enhancements to the current
policy in relation to Responsible Investment.

Gloucestershire
Fund /
Investment
adviser

As per Fund's business
plan

Review the Fund's Investment
Strategy Statement

Governance Review policy summary

2

Aon

Action
Develop a Fund Business
Continuity Policy / Plan

Reason
Expected to be included in TPR New Code.
We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's
approach to Business Continuity.
Expected to be included in TPR New Code.

Develop a Fund Cyber Strategy

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's
approach to Cyber Security.

Who With

Timescales

Gloucestershire
Fund

Q2 2021/22 – Q1 2022/23

Gloucestershire
Fund / Aon

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 2022/23

Page 107

Carrying out a review of Fund's
practices against TPR's New
Code of Practice

As part of best practice, we would expect the Administering
Authority to carry out a regular review of their practices against
the New Code.

Gloucestershire
Fund / Aon

Q1 2022/23

Develop a Fund Data
Improvement Policy

We understand that the Fund do the common / scheme specific
scoring through Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data
improvement policy or plan is in place. We recommend that
having a Data Improvement Policy is best practice.

Gloucestershire
Fund

To be included in 2022/23
business plan

Gloucestershire
Fund

To be included in 2022/23
business plan

Gloucestershire
Fund / Hymans

Ongoing

Gloucestershire
Fund / Aon

Ongoing

Develop a Fund Data
Improvement Plan

Implementation of new Training
Strategy

Development of Fund's own
identity separate from the
Council

Governance Review policy summary

A Training Strategy was put in place in April 2021. Ensure
successful implementation of this Strategy and the associated
training plans.
As part of this we would recommend that a training needs analysis
is carried out to identify any gaps.
This could include the Fund having different branding to the
Council.
Creation of a separate Fund website or more distinctly separate
section within the Council's website.

3

Aon

Action

Reason

Who With

Ensuring all of the Fund's
policies and procedures are easy
to access from Fund's website /
section of Council's website

Currently not all of the Fund's policies and procedures are easy to
find on the Fund's section of the Council's website

Gloucestershire
Fund

Ongoing

We don't think that the current approach of having two meetings a
year is sufficient.

Gloucestershire
Fund

Completed

Increase the number of Pension
Board meetings each year

Timescales

We note that in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the
PB moves to quarterly meetings.

Page 108
Governance Review policy summary

4

Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Conflicts of Interest Policy

Approved – September 2021

Page 109

Introduction
In the LGPS environment there is the potential for conflicts of interest to arise. This
reflects the fact that many of those managing or advising LGPS funds will have a variety
of other roles and responsibilities, for example as a member of the scheme, as an
elected member of an employer participating in the LGPS or as an adviser to more than
one LGPS administering authority. Further any of those persons may have an individual
personal, business or other interest which might conflict, or be perceived to conflict,
with their role managing or advising LGPS funds.
It is generally accepted that LGPS administering authorities have both fiduciary and
public law duties to act in the best interests of both the scheme beneficiaries and
participating employers. This, however, does not preclude those involved in the
management of the fund from having other roles or responsibilities which may result
in an actual or potential conflict of interest. The recent Good Governance Review1
recommended that each Fund has a fund-wide published conflicts of interest policy.
This recommendation is being considered by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG). In the meantime, Gloucestershire County Council as
Administering Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the Fund) considers it
good practice to document within a policy, such as this, how any such conflicts or
potential conflicts are to be managed in relation to Fund matters.
This document sets out the Conflicts of Interest Policy of the Fund. The Policy details
how actual and potential conflicts of interest are identified and managed by those
involved in the management and governance of the Fund, whether directly or in an
advisory capacity.
This Conflicts of Interest Policy is established to guide the Pension Committee
members, Pension Board members, officers and advisers. Along with other
constitutional documents, including the various Codes of Conduct, it aims to ensure
that those individuals do not act improperly or create a perception that they may have
acted improperly. It is an aid to good governance, encouraging transparency and
minimising the risk of any matter prejudicing decision making or management of the
Fund otherwise.

Aims and Objectives
The Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s key governance objectives are:
•
•
•
•

Act in the best interests of the Fund’s members and employers
Strive to ensure compliance with the appropriate legislation and statutory guidance, and to
act in the spirit of other relevant guidelines and best practice guidance
Act with integrity and be accountable to our stakeholders for our decisions, ensuring they are
robust and well based
Have robust governance arrangements in place to facilitate informed decision making,
supported by appropriate advice, policies and strategies

1

Phase 3 report published February 2021
https://www.lgpsboard.org/images/Other/Good_Governance_Final_Report_February_2021.pdf and is being
considered by MHCLG.

Page 110

Who does this Policy apply to?
This Policy applies to all members of the Pension Committee and the Pension Board,
including scheme member and employer representatives, whether voting members or
not. It applies to all officers involved in managing the Fund including the Section 151
officer, who are, from hereon in, collectively referred to as the ‘senior officers of the
Fund’. The Head of Pensions will monitor potential conflicts for all officers involved in
the daily management of the Fund and highlight this Policy to them as the Head of
Pensions considers appropriate.
This Policy and the management of conflicts of interest in general will have regard to
each individual's role, whether this is a management, advisory or assisting role and
includes responsibilities representing the Fund on other boards, committees, groups
and bodies.
The Policy also applies to all advisers and suppliers to the Fund. In this Policy, reference
to advisers includes all advisers, suppliers and other parties providing advice and
services to the Administering Authority in relation to pension fund matters. This
includes but is not limited to actuaries, investment consultants, independent advisers,
benefits consultants, third party administrators, fund managers, lawyers, custodians
and AVC providers. Where an advisory appointment is with a firm rather than an
individual, reference to "advisers" is to the lead adviser(s) responsible for the delivery
of advice and services to the Administering Authority rather than the firm as a whole.
In accepting any role covered by this Policy, all individuals to which this Policy applies
agree that they must:
• acknowledge any actual or potential conflict of interest they may have
• be open with the Administering Authority and any other body on which they
represent the Administering Authority, on any actual or potential conflicts of
interest they may have
• adopt practical solutions to managing those conflicts, and
• plan ahead and agree with the Administering Authority how they will manage
any conflicts of interest which arise in future.
The procedures outlined later in this Policy provide a framework for each individual to
meet these requirements.

Legislative and related context
The overriding requirements in relation to the management of potential or actual
conflicts of interest for those involved in LGPS funds are contained in various elements
of legislation and guidance. These are considered further below.
The Public Service Pensions Act 2013
Section 5 of this Act requires that the scheme manager (in the case of the LGPS, this is
the Administering Authority) must be satisfied that a Pension Board Member does not
have a conflict of interest at the point of appointment and thereafter. It also requires
Board Members to provide reasonable information to the scheme manager for this
purpose. The Act defines a conflict of interest as “a financial or other interest which is
likely to prejudice the person’s exercise of functions as a Member of the Board (but

Page 111

does not include a financial or other interest arising merely by virtue of membership of
the scheme or any connected scheme).”
Further, the Act requires that scheme managers must have regard to any such guidance
that the national Scheme Advisory Board issues (see below).
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
Regulation 108 of these Regulations applies the requirements of the Public Service
Pensions Act (as outlined above) to the LGPS, placing a duty on each Administering
Authority to satisfy itself that Pension Board Members do not have conflicts of interest
on appointment or whilst they are Members of the Board. It also requires those Pension
Board Members to provide reasonable information to the Administering Authority in
this regard. The Administering Authority will achieve this by regular monitoring and
reviewing of the declarations of interest register.
Regulation 109 states that each Administering Authority must have regard to guidance
issued by the Secretary of State in relation to Pension Boards. Further, regulation 110
provides that the national Scheme Advisory Board has a function of providing advice to
Administering Authorities and Pension Boards. The LGPS national Scheme Advisory
Board issued guidance relating to the establishment of Pension Boards including a
section on conflicts of interest. This Conflicts of Interest Policy has been developed
having regard to that guidance.
The Pensions Act 2004
Section 90A of the Pension Act 2004 requires the Pensions Regulator to issue a code of
practice relating to conflicts of interest for Pension Board Members. The Pensions
Regulator has issued such a code and this Conflicts of Interest Policy has been
developed having regard to that code.
Further, under section 13, the Pensions Regulator can issue an improvement notice (i.e.
a notice requiring steps to be taken to rectify a situation) where it is considered that
the requirements relating to conflicts of interest for Pension Board Members are not
being adhered to.
CIPFA Investment Pooling Governance Principles for LGPS Administering Authorities
Guidance
The CIPFA governance principles guidance states "the establishment of investment
pooling arrangements creates a range of additional roles that committee members,
representatives, officers and advisors might have." It includes some examples of how
conflicts of interest could arise in these new roles. It highlights the need for
Administering Authorities to:
• update their conflicts policies to have regard to asset pooling,
• remind all those involved with the management of the fund of the policy
requirements and the potential for conflicts to arise in respect of asset pooling
responsibilities, and
• ensure declarations are updated appropriately.
This Conflicts of Interest Policy takes account of the possibility of conflicts arising in
relation to asset pooling in accordance with the CIPFA governance principles guidance.

Page 112

Localism Act 2011
All members and co-opted members of the Pension Committee are required by the
Localism Act 2011 to register and declare ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’ and abide by
Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of Gloucestershire County
Council. That Code contains provisions relating to Code Interests and Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests, their disclosure and limitations on members’ participation where
they have any such interest.
The Seven Principles of Standards in Public Life
Also known as the ‘Nolan Principles’, the seven principles of public life apply to anyone
who holds public office. This includes people who are elected or appointed to public
office, nationally and locally, and all people appointed to work in:
• the civil service,
• local government,
• the police,
• the courts and probation services,
• non-departmental public bodies, and
• health, education, social and care services.
The principles also apply to all those in other sectors that deliver public services. Many
of the principles are integral to the successful implementation of this Policy. The
principles are as follows:
• selflessness,
• integrity,
• objectivity,
• accountability,
• openness,
• honesty, and
• leadership.
Advisers’ Professional Standards
Many advisers will be required to meet professional standards relating to the
management of conflicts of interest, for example, the Fund Actuary will be bound by
the requirements of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. Any Protocol or other
document entered into between an adviser and the Administering Authority in relation
to conflicts of interest, whether as a requirement of a professional body or otherwise,
should be read in conjunction with this Policy.

Other Administering Authority Requirements
Pension Board Members
The Pension Board will be required to adopt a policy for identifying and managing
potential conflicts of interest. In accordance with those requirements, the Board will be
requested to formally adopt this Policy. In addition to the requirements of this Policy,
Pension Board Members are required to adhere to the Code of Conduct for Members
and Co-opted Members of Gloucestershire County Council which sets out the expected
standards of conduct, including requirements around registering and declaring
interests.

Page 113

Employees
In addition to the requirements of this Policy, officers of Gloucestershire County Council
are required to adhere to the Gloucestershire County Council Code of Conduct for
Employees which includes requirements in relation to the disclosure and management
of personal and other interests and receipt of gifts and hospitality.
Advisers
The Administering Authority appoints its own advisers. There may be circumstances
where these advisers are asked to give advice to scheme employers, or even to scheme
members or member representatives such as the Trades Unions, in relation to pension
matters. Similarly, an adviser may also be appointed to another administering authority
which is involved in a transaction involving the Fund and on which advice is required,
or to a supplier or organisation providing services to the Fund. An adviser can only
continue to advise the Fund and another party where there is no conflict of interest in
doing so.
An adviser appointed to advise the Pension Committee, Pension Board or Fund officers
can be the same person, as long as there is no conflict of interest between the multiple
responsibilities.
Conduct at Meetings
There may be circumstances where a representative of employers or members wishes
to provide a specific point of view on behalf of an employer (or group of employers) or
member (or group of members). The Administering Authority requires that any
individual wishing to speak to advocate on behalf of a specific person or organisation
or to represent the views of a group of such persons must state this clearly at the
meeting and this will be recorded in the minutes.

What is a Conflict or Potential Conflict and how will they be managed?
Identifying conflicts or potential conflicts of interest
A conflict of interest is defined in section 5(5) of the 2013 Act as a financial or other
interest likely to prejudice the way in which someone carries out their role2. It further
specifies that a conflict does not include a financial or other interest arising merely by
virtue of that person being a member of a relevant pension scheme.
Therefore, a conflict of interest may arise when an individual:
• has a responsibility or duty in relation to the management of, or provision of
advice to, the LGPS fund administered by Gloucestershire County Council,
• at the same time, they:
o have a separate personal interest (financial or otherwise), or
o have another responsibility in relation to that matter, or
have a family member or close colleague having a specific
responsibility or interest in that matter which gives rise to a possible
conflict with their first responsibility.
Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering Authority will:
2

The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 defines a conflict of interest in the context of a member of a pension
board however the definition is extracted here to apply to all stakeholders.

Page 114

•
•
•

encourage a culture of openness and transparency
encourage individuals to be vigilant, have a clear understanding of their role
and the circumstances in which they may have a conflict of interest, and of
how potential conflicts should be managed
evaluate the nature of any dual interests or responsibilities that are
highlighted and assess the impact on pension fund operations and good
governance were an actual conflict of interest to materialise.

Some of the key areas of potential conflict relate to the dual roles held by
Gloucestershire County Council as:
• Administering Authority to the Fund and a participating employer in Fund and
• Administering Authority to the Fund and as an owner and client of the Brunel
Pensions Partnership Ltd in relation to the management of assets of the Fund
- Brunel Pensions Partnership Ltd have set out their approach to conflicts of
interest in their Conflict of Interest Policy3.
Some examples of potential conflicts including relating to these dual roles are included
in Appendix 1.
Further details of how potential conflicts of interest should be identified and managed
are set out in table 1 below.
Monitoring and recording potential conflicts of interest
All declarations should be collated and recorded on the Fund’s Register of Conflicts of
Interests (see Appendix 2 for details on the format of the register).
In order for the Administering Authority to fulfil its obligations to manage and monitor
potential conflicts of interests the Pension Committee and the Pension Board must
include an item on conflicts of interest at each meeting. The Pension Board must also
include an item on conflict of interest in its Annual Report.
The Fund's Register of conflicts of interest may be viewed by any interested party at
any point in time. It will be made available on request by the Head of Pensions. In order
to identify whether the objectives of this Policy are being met, the Administering
Authority will review the Register of conflicts of interest on an annual basis and consider
whether there have been any potential or actual conflicts of interest that were not
declared at the earliest opportunity. Further detail set out in table 1 below.
Managing and mitigating potential conflicts of interest
It is inevitable that conflicts of interest will arise, and it is important to recognise that
there are various ways that conflict can be managed depending on the individual
circumstances. These include:
• the individual concerned abstaining from discussion, decision-making or
providing advice relating to the relevant issue,
• the individual being excluded from the meeting(s) and any related
correspondence or material in connection with the relevant issue (for
example, a report for a Pension Committee meeting), or
• a working group or sub-committee being established, excluding the individual
3

Brunel Pensions Partnership Ltd Conflict of Interest Policy is available here.

Page 115

concerned, to consider the matter outside of the formal meeting (where the
terms of reference permit this to happen).
Provided that the Administering Authority, (having taken any professional advice
deemed to be required) is satisfied that the method of management is satisfactory, the
Administering Authority shall endeavour to avoid the need to advise an individual to
resign due to a conflict of interest or to request the appointing body to reconsider their
appointment to the Board or Committee). Where a Pension Board Member has an
actual conflict of interest as defined in the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, the
individual will be required to resign from the Board.

Table 1 – What is required?
What is required

How this will be done

Step 1 - Initial
identification of interests
which do or could give
rise to a conflict

On appointment to their role or on the commencement of this Policy if
later, all individuals will be provided with a copy of this Policy and be
required to complete a Declaration of Interest the same or similar to
that included in Appendix 3.
The information contained in these declarations will be collated into the
Pension Fund Register of conflicts of interest in a format the same or
similar to that included in Appendix 2.

Step 2 - Ongoing
notification and
management of
potential or actual
conflicts of interest

At the commencement of any Pension Committee and Pension Board
or other formal meeting where pension fund matters are to be
discussed, the Chair will ask all those present who are covered by this
Policy to declare any new potential conflicts. These will be recorded in
the Fund's Register of conflicts of interest. In addition, the latest version
of the Register will be made available by the Head of Pensions to the
Chair of every meeting prior to that meeting.
At Pension Committee meetings there will also, at the start of the
meeting, be an agenda item for Members to declare any interests under
the Members' Code in relation to any items on that agenda.
Any individual who considers that they or another individual has a
potential or actual conflict of interest, as defined by this Policy, which
relates to an item of business at a meeting, must advise the Chair and
the Head of Pensions prior to the meeting, where possible, or state this
clearly at the meeting at the earliest possible opportunity. The Chair, in
consultation with the Head of Pensions, should then decide whether the
conflicted or potentially conflicted individual needs to leave the
meeting during the discussion on the relevant matter or to withdraw
from voting on the matter.
If such a conflict is identified outside of a meeting the notification must
be made to the Head of Pensions and where it relates to the business
of any meeting, also to the Chair of that meeting. The Head of Pensions,
in consultation with the Chair where relevant, will consider any
necessary action to manage the potential or actual conflict.

Page 116

What is required

How this will be done
Where information relating to any potential or actual conflict has been
provided, the Head of Pensions may seek such professional advice as he
or she thinks fit (such as legal advice from the Monitoring Officer) on to
how to manage any identified conflicts.
Any such potential or actual conflicts of interest and the action taken
must be recorded on the Fund's Register of conflicts of interest.

Step 3 - Periodic review
of potential and actual
conflicts

At least once every 12 months, the Head of Pensions will provide to all
individuals to whom this Policy applies a copy of their currently declared
Pension Fund conflicts of interest. All individuals will complete a new
Declaration of Interest (see Appendix 3) confirming that their
information contained in the Register is correct or highlighting any
changes that need to be made to the declaration.

Minor Gifts and Hospitality
For the purposes of this Policy, gifts such as t-shirts, pens, trade show bags and other
promotional items (subject to a notional maximum value of £25 per item) obtained at
events such as conferences, training events, seminars, and trade shows, that are
offered equally to all members of the public attending the event do not need to be
declared. Gloucestershire County Council Officers are also required to comply with the
Gloucestershire County Council’s Declaration of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality Policy.

Responsibility
Gloucestershire County Council as the Administering Authority for the Fund must be
satisfied that conflicts of interest are appropriately managed. For this purpose, the
Head of Pensions is the designated individual for ensuring the procedures outlined in
this Policy are carried out. However, it is the responsibility of each individual covered
by this Policy to identify any potential instances where their personal, financial,
business or other interests might come into conflict with their pension fund duties and
to follow the requirements of the Policy appropriately.

Operational procedure for officers, Pension Committee and Pension Board members
The procedures in this Policy must be followed by all individuals to whom this policy
applies.
However, it should be noted all members of the Pension Committee (including co-opted
members) have a pre-eminent requirement to follow and abide by the requirements of
the Gloucestershire County Council Members’ Code of Conduct relating to the
registering and declaring interests and withdrawal from meetings. Accordingly, for
those members, disclosures under this policy may be in addition to disclosures under
the Council’s Code of Conduct. In addition, Pension Board members are also required
to adhere to the Gloucestershire County Council Members’ Code of Conduct.

Page 117

Operational procedure for advisers
All of the key advisers to the Fund are expected to have their own policies on how
conflicts of interest will be managed in their relationships with their clients, and these
should have been shared with the Administering Authority, Gloucestershire County
Council.
Although this Policy applies to all advisers, the operational procedures outlined in steps
1 and 3 in the table above relating to completing ongoing declarations are not expected
to apply to advisers. Instead all advisers must:
• be provided with a copy of this Policy on appointment and whenever it is
updated,
• adhere to the principles of this Policy,
• provide, on request, information to the Head of Pensions in relation to how
they will manage and monitor actual or potential conflicts of interests relating
to the provision of advice or services to Gloucestershire County Council as
Administering Authority,
• notify the Head of Pensions immediately should a potential or actual conflict
of interest arise, and
• highlight at all meetings should a potential or actual conflict of interest arise,
preferably at the start of the meeting.
All potential or actual conflicts notified by advisers will be recorded in the Fund’s
Register of conflicts of interest.

Key Risks
The key risks to the delivery of this Policy are outlined below. All of these could result
in an actual conflict of interest arising and not being properly managed. The Head of
Pensions will monitor these and other key risks and consider how to respond to them.
•
•
•
•
•

Insufficient training or poor understanding in relation to individuals’ roles on
pension fund matters,
Insufficient training or failure to communicate the requirements of this Policy,
Failure by an individual to follow the requirements of this Policy,
Absence of the individual nominated to manage the operational aspects of
this Policy and no one deputising, or failure of that individual to carry out the
operational aspects in accordance with this Policy, and
Failure by the Chair to take appropriate action when a conflict is highlighted
at a meeting

Costs
All costs related to the operation and implementation of this Policy will be met directly
by Fund. However, no payments will be made to any individuals in relation to any time
spent or expenses incurred in the disclosure or management of any potential or actual
conflicts of interest under this Policy.

Page 118

Approval, Review and Consultation
This Conflicts of Interest Policy was approved on 24 September 2021 by the Pension
Committee. It will be formally reviewed and updated at least every three years or
sooner if the conflict management arrangements or other matters included within it
merit reconsideration, including if there are any changes to the LGPS or other relevant
Regulations or Guidance which need to be taken into account.

Further Information
If you require further information about anything in or related to this Conflicts of
Interest Policy, please contact:
Head of Pensions
(01452) 328920
matthew.trebilcock@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Appendix 1 - Examples of Potential Conflicts of Interest
Appendix 2 - Register of Potential and Actual Conflicts
Appendix 3 - Declaration of Interests relating to the management of the Fund
administered by Gloucestershire County Council

Page 119

Appendix 1 - Examples of Potential Conflicts of Interest
The examples provided are for illustrative purposes only and are not designed to be an exhaustive
list.
Examples of Pension Related Potential Conflict of Interest
a) An elected member on the Pension Committee may be required to provide views on a funding
strategy which could result in an increase in employer contributions payable by the employer
he or she represents.
b) A member of the Pension Committee is a board member of an Investment Manager that the
Committee is considering appointing.
c) An officer of the Fund or member of the Pension Committee is on a Brunel board/group and a
matter is being considered that would benefit their originating Council or Pension Fund to a
greater degree than other participating Councils or Funds.
d) An officer of the Fund or member of the Pension Committee accepts a dinner invitation from
a Fund Manager who has submitted a bid as part of a tender process or might be in the
process of preparing a bid for an open tender process.
e) The senior pension fund officer appointed to consider internal disputes is asked to review a
case relating to a close friend or relative.
f) The senior pension fund officer is asked to provide technical advice to a scheme employer
about an outsourcing contract. This includes questions about the impact on that employer
and their employer requirements relating to the outsourcing contract. That senior pension
fund officer is also (or will be) involved in similar matters from a Pension Fund perspective
relating to that outsourcing.
g) An elected member on the Pension Committee also has a role in driving carbon reduction in
his local authority area, which also happens to the administering authority for the Fund.
h) An elected member on the Pension Committee, who also sits on the Brunel Oversight Board,
also has a role on his local authority in relation to local infrastructure, and this is a potential
investment being considered by Brunel Pensions Partnership which the Fund might invest in.
i) An administrator in the Fund receives a case to calculate a benefit which relates to a family
member, close friend or colleague.
j) An employer representative on the Pension Board is employed by a company to which the
administering authority has outsourced its pension administration services and the Pension
Board is reviewing the standards of service provided by that company.
k) A Fund adviser is party to the development of a strategy which could result in additional work
for his or her firm, for example, providing delegated or fiduciary management of Fund
investments, providing assistance with monitoring the covenant of employers or where they
are also advisers to the Brunel Pensions Partnership Ltd.

Page 120

Appendix 2 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund – Register of Potential and Actual Conflicts of Interest

All reported conflicts of interest will be recorded in the minutes and we will maintain and review a register of conflicts annually.

Date
identified

Name of
Person

Role of Person

Details of Conflict

Page 121
(1) e.g. verbal declaration at meeting, written conflicts declaration, etc
(2) e.g. withdrawing from a decision-making process, left meeting

Actual or
potential
conflict

How notified(1)

Action
taken(2)

Follow
up
required

Date
resolved

Appendix 3

Declaration of Interests relating to the management of the Gloucestershire
Pension Fund as administered by Gloucestershire County Council
I,

________________________________________ [insert full name], am:
•

an officer involved in the management

•

a Pension Fund Committee Member

•

a Pension Board Member

of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and I set out below under the appropriate headings my
interests, which I am required to declare under the Gloucestershire Pensions Funds Conflicts
of Interest Policy. I have put ‘none’ where I have no such interests under any heading.

Responsibilities or other interests that could result in a conflict of interest
(please list and continue overleaf if necessary):
A) Relating to me

B) Relating to family members or close colleagues

Undertaking:
I declare that I understand my responsibilities under the Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Conflicts of Interest Policy. I undertake to notify the Head of Pensions of any changes in the
information set out above.

Signed:____________________________________

Date:______________________

Name: (CAPITAL LETTERS):_____________________________________________________

Page 122

Governance Review
Pension Committee Constitution
This paper sets out our recommendations in relation to the
Pension Committee (PC) of the Gloucestershire Fund (the
Fund) having further representation from key stakeholders.

At a glance…
Our recent governance review recommended that the PC considered
increasing its employer and scheme member representation to have
two employer representatives and two scheme member representatives.
However, following further consultation with Fund Officers, and taking into
account a number of practical considerations, which include the number of
changes to the Committee after the recent elections, at a high level our
initial recommendations at this time are to:
▪ Retain a district council (employer) representative that is nominated by
the Gloucestershire branch of the Local Government Association to
represent the interests of District Councils
▪ Retain a scheme member representative that is selected through
nominations by the trade unions
▪ Include an additional employer representative, with applications invited
from all employers (excluding Gloucestershire County Council and the
district councils)
▪ Make all employer and employee representatives (i.e. the two existing
representatives and the one new representative) non-voting members of
the PC
▪ Review the situation in 2 years with consideration as to whether making
any further changes is desirable at that time
Further detail on these recommendations is set out in the remainder of this
paper, including comments on the suggested process for appointing the
employer representative.

Why are we recommending increasing employer and
employee representation?
The PC is currently made up of:
▪ Seven County Councillors – with voting rights

Prepared for: Gloucestershire County Council
Prepared by: Daniel Kanaris and Scott Campbell
Date: 15 September 2021

Page 123

Next steps
▪ PC to consider recommended
change to number of
employer representatives
▪ PC to include a more specific
list of duties within the
Constitution
▪ Fund to review the situation in
2 years with consideration as
to whether making any further
changes is desirable at that
time

Governance Review

▪ One voting district council representative
▪ One non-voting scheme member representative
We note that the Fund has over 200 active employers covering a number of
different sectors, including colleges, universities, academies, housing
companies and admission bodies. We note that the 2019/20 annual report
and accounts shows approximately 100 academies participating in the
Fund.
In our experience across other LGPS funds we see that the majority of
Pension Committees have more than one employer representative and it is
also not uncommon to have multiple member representatives including a
representative for non-active members of the Fund (i.e. deferred members
and pensioners).
We also note that the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Good Governance
review has recommended that all LGPS funds be required to produce and
publish a policy on the representation of scheme members and nonadministering authorities on Pension Committees, explaining their
approach to voting rights for each party. We recognise that all LGPS funds
and Pension Committees are different and that there is no single 'correct'
structure, and the SAB have stated in their report that any guidance should
avoid being overly prescriptive and limited. However, we believe that there
is likely to be greater scrutiny on Pension Committee representation going
forward, and we believe that the initial proposed changes set out in this
report would help to satisfy any such scrutiny and to increase the PC's
engagement with their membership.
It is also worth recognising that expanding the membership of the PC could
also assist with the diversity, equality and inclusion aspects of the PC.

Voting Rights
There are a number of different options in relation to the voting rights of
employer and employee representatives on the PC. These include:
▪ Employer and employee representatives having full voting rights
▪ Employer and employee representatives having voting rights, except for
votes regarding the appointment of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the PC
▪ Employer and employee representatives not having voting rights
When considering which of these options is appropriate for the PC it is
important to ensure that any increase in PC membership does not have an
impact on political proportionality and to ensure appropriate representation
from the administering authority. However, the PC should continue to be
aware that, beyond the make-up of its membership, political factors should
not be relevant in PC meeting decisions as pensions is a non-executive
function and there is an overriding fiduciary duty to scheme members.
Having reflected on this and taking into account discussions with Fund
officers and the PC, we recommend that the employer and employee
representatives are not given voting rights.
We note that this is a slight change from the current position for the district
council (employer) representative who does have voting rights, but we feel

2

Aon

Page 124

Governance Review

it is better to be consistent across all such representatives. It is also worth
noting that, as the district council representative is currently an elected
member, who comes with a political affiliation, the political persuasion of
the appointed person has the potential to affect the political balancing of
the County Council representatives if he / she retains the right to vote.

Process for increasing employer and employee
representation
It is important that the PC establishes a clear process for appointing the
additional employer representative.
One of the first steps is to determine whether there are any particular
sectors that would be desirable to have as representatives on the PC.
We recommend inviting applications from all employers in the Fund, with
the exception of Gloucestershire County Council and the district councils
who are already represented on the PC. The PC may wish to specifically
target / have a preference for a representative from the academy sector
given the number of employers in the Fund from that sector, but we believe
that the application process is likely to be most successful if this is position
is open to all employers in the Fund.
Following receipt of applications, we anticipate there being an interview
process which we would suggest would include the Chair and Vice-Chair of
the PC along with the Head of Pensions. Should the representative position
not be filled immediately (for whatever reason), the position should be held
vacant in subsequent PC meetings until the post is re-advertised and
successfully filled.
We suggest that each of the three posts has a term of office and a period of
4 years from the appointment date would appear to be a reasonable term
to adopt.
All changes adopted, either as a result of the recommendations above or
otherwise, will need to be reflected in Gloucestershire County Council’s
Constitution.

Duties of the Pension Committee
We also recommend that the duties of the PC as set out in the Constitution
are reviewed. This is because we observe that the majority of the duties
are investment focused, and there is limited reference to duties relating to
administration, communication and governance matters. We believe that
these areas could be made more explicit within the duties of the PC.
We note in particular there is no explicit mention of areas such as agreeing
and monitoring the Administration Strategy, Communications Policy or the
Fund's business plan and budget. The latter point is one of the key
recommendations of the SAB Good Governance review which states that
each administering authority must ensure their Pension Committee is
included in the business planning process. The current duties of the PC set
out in the Constitution refer to the Pension Board's business plan but not
that for the Fund itself.

Aon

3

Page 125

Governance Review

We therefore recommend that the duties below are included within the PC
Constitution.
▪ Ensuring the Fund is managed, and that pension payments are made, in
compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations.
▪ Ensuring robust risk management arrangements are in place.
▪ Ensuring the Council operates with due regard and in the spirit of all
relevant statutory and non-statutory best practice guidance in relation to
its management of the Fund.
▪ Approval of the Fund's annual business plan and budget and monitoring
progress against it.
▪ Agreeing the Fund's Training Strategy for all Pension Committee and
Board members and for all officers of the Fund, including determining the
Fund’s knowledge and skills framework, identifying training requirements,
developing training plans and monitoring compliance with the policy.
▪ Approving the Fund's Governance Policy Statement and Governance
Compliance Statement within the framework as determined by the Council
and making recommendations to the Council about any changes to that
framework.
▪ Approving the Fund's Administration Strategy determining how the
Council will administer the Fund including collecting payments due,
calculating and paying benefits, gathering information from and providing
information to scheme members and employers.
▪ Approving the Fund's Communications Policy Statement, determining the
methods of communications with the various stakeholders including
scheme members and employers.
▪ Approving the Fund’s Conflicts of Interest policy covering the
management of actual and perceived conflicts of interest for the Pensions
Committee, the Local Pension Board, and officers.
▪ Determining, reviewing and monitoring the Fund's policy in regard to
employer admission and cessation arrangements;
▪ Agreeing Administering Authority responses to consultations by Central
Government, professional and other bodies;
▪ Both appointing and terminating the appointment of the Fund's advisers,
including actuaries, governance advisers and specialist lawyers (where
required) and periodically to review those arrangements;

Conclusion and Recommendation
Our main recommendation at the current time is that the Pension
Committee increases in size by creating an additional employer
representative, and that this is reviewed in 2 years to determine
whether any further changes are desirable at that time.

4

Aon

Page 126

Governance Review

The Pension Committee and the Fund Officers should consider and
discuss the recommendations / rationale set out in this paper. We
would be happy to answer any questions in relation to this.
▪

Aon

5

Page 127

Daniel Kanaris
Senior Consultant

Scott Campbell FIA
Senior Consultant

0117 900 4447
daniel.kanaris@aon.com

0117 900 4412
scott.campbell.2@aon.com

Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global professional services firm providing a broad range of risk,
retirement and health solutions. Our 50,000 colleagues in 120 countries empower results for clients by
using proprietary data and analytics to deliver insights that reduce volatility and improve performance.
Copyright © 2021 Aon Solutions UK Limited. All rights reserved. aon.com. Aon Solutions UK Limited is authorised
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810. Registered office:
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN. This document and any
enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that they are solely for the benefit of the addressee(s).
Unless we provide express prior written consent no part of this document should be reproduced, distributed or
communicated to anyone else and, in providing this document, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any
other purpose or to anyone other than the addressee(s) of this document. In this context, “we” includes any Aon
Scheme Actuary appointed by you. To protect the confidential and proprietary information included in this document,
it may not be disclosed or provided to any third parties without the prior written consent of Aon Solutions UK Limited.

Page 128

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 9

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 10

This page is intentionally left blank

